UNIVERSIDADE DE LISBOA FACULDADE DE CIÊNCIAS DEPARTAMENTO DE BIOLOGIA ANIMAL



VULTURES IN GUINEA-BISSAU: ESTABLISHING BASELINE DATA ON DISTRIBUTION AND ABUNDANCE, ASSESSING CONSERVATION STATUS AND LAUNCHING BASES FOR POPULATIONS MONITORING

Mohamed Faza Henriques Baldé

Mestrado em Biologia da Conservação

Dissertação orientada por: Professor Doutor Paulo Xavier Catry Professor Doutor José Pedro Granadeiro

2016

Dedicatória e Agradecimentos

Dedico esta tese de mestrado e todo o esforço e dedicação colocado nela a toda a minha família, a quem quis orgulhar mais do que tudo. Uma dedicatória especial ao meu falecido avô José Henriques, que sempre valorizou a educação e o conhecimento, à minha querida avó Mema, que faleceu um dia depois da minha partida para Lisboa para o mestrado, deixando-me tatuado a sua bênção, e à minha querida tia Jóia, que partiu fisicamente, mas nunca me deixou de iluminar.

Agradecimentos Institucionais

Gostaria de começar por agradecer ao Instituto da Biodiversidade e das Áreas Protegidas da Guiné-Bissau, o IBAP, por me ter acolhido ainda antes de terminar a minha licenciatura, e por me ter permitido crescer profissionalmente sob a sua égide. As oportunidades de trabalhar no campo e ganhar experiência que me concederam firmaram a minha paixão por esta área e pelo que faço. Mais do que oportunidades como estagiário, o IBAP ofereceu-me a oportunidade de concretizar uma das minhas grandes ambições e um sonho, que foi o de poder realizar um mestrado. Muito obrigado por investirem em mim. Agradeço também a todos os funcionários da casa.

À *Fondation MAVA*, que financiou uma parte importante do trabalho de campo no arquipélago dos Bijagós, através do seu projeto *La recherche participative au service de la conservation de la biodiversité dans le Parc National Marin João Vieira et Poilão* e que também forneceu o financiamento necessário ao IBAP para me financiar a bolsa de estudos para este mestrado.

À *Rufford Foundation*, que me concedeu o apoio financeiro necessário para realizar a maior parte do trabalho de campo, através dos seus *Rufford Small Grants*, e por terem acreditado na minha capacidade de cumprir os objetivos propostos no projeto que lhes submeti.

À Faculdade de Ciências da Universidade de Lisboa, por me ter concedido a oportunidade de estudar e crescer academicamente no seio de uma Universidade de topo na área da investigação para a conservação, e por ter concedido todas as condições para que a minha aprendizagem fosse a mais eficaz e profunda possível.

Ao ISPA – Instituto Universitário, instituição de quem fui bolseiro nos meses anteriores à integração no mestrado, e que, como parceiro para a área científica do projeto pelo qual sou Bolseiro de Mestrado, me permitiu abrir horizontes numa altura chave da minha vida.

Ao Gabinete de Planificação Costeira da Guiné-Bissau – GPC – que bondosamente me concedeu o *staff time* do seu Responsável pelo Seguimento de Espécies e meu mestre, Hamilton Monteiro.

À Geração Nova da Tiniguena e à ONG Tiniguena, por me ter formado cívica e humanamente no homem que sou hoje, e por terem apoiado o trabalho de campo na Área Marinha Protegida Comunitária das ilhas Urok.

Agradecimentos Pessoais

Começo por agradecer a todos os que, aqui em Lisboa, me ajudaram e acompanharam durante este período. A minha primeira palavra vai para o meu orientador principal, Paulo Catry. É difícil agradecerte, pois nem sei por onde começar, dado a importância enorme da tua presença na minha vida profissional e pessoal. Agradeço-te do fundo do coração por todos os ensinamentos, paciência, por me guiares em direção ao caminho correto, mas sem o percorreres por mim. Por constituíres um exemplo e um modelo do que quero ser um dia profissionalmente, por me ensinares rigor, mas também a ter sensibilidade ao mesmo tempo, por me puxares para cima como mais ninguém tem feito. Por te dares ao trabalho de me ralhar e dar na cabeça sempre que começo a pairar no abstrato. Por tudo isto e, especialmente, pela tua paternidade e amizade, digo-te obrigado. Espero poder continuar a aprender contigo a longo deste percurso, que é a vida. Ao meu orientador interno da FCUL, José Pedro Granadeiro, que desde o início se abriu para mim com tamanha sinceridade e boa disposição e com um coração puríssimo. Agradeço-te por todas as horas da tua vida (pessoal e profissional) que dedicaste a ajudar-me com a minha tese. Agradeço-te pela forma especial que tiveste de nunca me deixar desanimar e de, com um sorriso e uma voz bem-disposta, descomplicares o que eu complicava e varrer para longe as minhas inseguranças e receios ao longo desta caminhada. Agradeço-te por me teres ensinado a tratar e analisar dados com a leveza e facilidade de quem ensina uma criança a dar um chuto na bola. Obrigado pela tua amizade.

Aos meus colegas de mestrado, por me acompanharem ao longo do primeiro ano, por partilharem as suas experiências comigo, por todo o companheirismo e por me proporcionarem uma excelente adaptação à FCUL nos meus primeiros meses. Entre eles, não poderia deixar de destacar o Francisco, pela sua boa-disposição, amizade e pureza de espírito; o Robério, pela boa-onda, maturidade e pelas tardes de trocas de ideias; a Didi, pela capacidade de transmitir calma e pelas longas horas de estudo na sua excelente e divertida companhia; o Diogo, pela pausa e partilha de conhecimentos; a Sofs, pela alegria, boa disposição e maluquice; a Rita Ramos, pela simpatia constante, e por me ter levado a Sagres; e a Yasaman Beigi, pela companhia nos trabalhos de grupo e simpatia. Um grande agradecimento para o Emanuel Dias, meu companheiro de bolsa e de *forontas*, que esteve sempre ao meu lado durante este tempo todo e que me manteve sempre em contacto com a Guiné, com a sua presença e possibilidade de falar crioulo. Obrigado, Emanuel Bissau!!! Mas o mais especial agradecimento para todo este grupo vai para a Ana Coelho, minha irmãzinha querida, a quem me apeguei de uma forma única. Muito obrigado pelo carinho especial, pela amizade incondicional, pela companhia em inúmeras horas de estudo e no campo, quando foste trabalhar comigo na Guiné, pelas longas conversas e discussões sobre tudo e sobre nada, por puxares por mim para que arranje tempo para fazer o que gosto, pelas viagens juntos para ir anilhar e por seres a pessoa bela que és. Aos colegas do laboratório, Raquel, Carolina e Patrícia, pela companhia, ensinamentos e por me ajudarem a encontrar-me no meio das pipetas, caixas de *petri* e todas essas coisas que um biólogo de campo não aprecia tanto.

Agradeço também a todos os professores que me transmitiram importantíssimos conhecimentos ao longo do primeiro ano de mestrado. Em especial ao Rui Rebelo, por toda a simpatia, disponibilidade e boa disposição, e por ter aturado e ajudado em toda a burocracia desde a minha candidatura, até ao final; e ao professor Palmeirim, meu conterrâneo, pelos conselhos na fase de preparação do trabalho de campo. Aos colegas do grupo das aves marinhas e costeiras, Teresa, Pedro, Letízia, Maria e Marie Claire, por me terem integrado de braços abertos no seu seio, e por todo o companheirismo. Um obrigado muito especial à Edna Correia, pela amizade, companhia na Guiné e pelas conversas longas que sabem sempre a pouco, e ao Camilo Carneiro, pela transmissão de conhecimentos de laboratório e pelo profissionalismo durante o trabalho que fizemos juntos. À Ana Nuno e à Rita Patrício, pelo apoio fantástico na elaboração do projeto para submeter à *Rufford* e pelos conselhos. Aos meus colegas do Grupo de Anilhagem do Estuário do Tejo, Afonso, José Alves, Pedro, Ana Santos, Nuno Oliveira, Suzana, e todos os outros, por partilharem comigo os seus conhecimentos sobre as aves e pelas belas manhãs e noites de capturas.

Quero agradecer a todos os que participaram e me apoiaram na Guiné-Bissau na planificação e realização de todo o trabalho de campo. Começo pela pessoa que é a principal causa de eu ter mergulhado no mundo da ornitologia, o meu irmão mais velho e amigo Hamilton Monteiro. A ti tenho tanto a agradecer que esta página não chegaria. Limito-me a agradecer-te por me teres adotado como teu aprendiz, por me teres ensinado e dado tudo de ti sempre que íamos para o campo juntos, por me teres motivado como mais ninguém é capaz com tua paixão contagiante pelas aves, pela natureza e pelas pessoas, e com o teu coração puro e honesto. Agradeço-te do fundo do coração por tudo isso e espero que possamos continuar juntos esta senda pela ornitologia e pela conservação da natureza na Guiné-Bissau. Agradeço também ao meu irmão, *nha ermon branco*, Miguel Lecoq. Foste progressivamente tornando-te num dos meus melhores amigos e, mais do que isso, num irmão mais velho para mim.

Obrigado por todos os conselhos importantíssimos que me deste, pela partilha da tua valiosa experiência e, sobretudo, pela tua grande, grande amizade, seja no trabalho, seja depois no lazer, passeios, jantares, copos e bailadas ©. Tens um talento raro e uma dimensão humana incrível. Anseio por mais viagens por essa África fora contigo!

Um obrigado muito especial também para a Aissa Regalla de Barros, minha orientadora de estágio no IBAP e coordenadora do projeto que financia a minha bolsa de estudo. Obrigado por teres tornado tudo possível, tanto no campo como em Lisboa, e por conseguires que as coisas acontecessem e funcionassem bem. Se há alguém a quem devo esta tese de mestrado, essa pessoa és tu. Ao Alfredo da Silva, meu Diretor, e ao Justino Biai, Encarregado de Programa do IBAP, por me terem possibilitado usufruir desta oportunidade de me formar. Agradeço-vos pela vossa aposta em mim. Ao Sr. Jean-Marc Thiollay, que teve e grande amabilidade de vir fazer parte do trabalho de campo comigo, oferecer os seus experientes conselhos e ensinar-me a identificar muitas espécies de rapinas. Ao meu padrinho, Keiser, por ter confiado em mim ao recomendar-me para o financiamento do projeto da *Rufford*, e pelos conselhos sábios e experientes.

Aos condutores Aristóteles *Máquina* e Pipi, por me terem guiado de forma segura, agradável e paciente ao longo de grande parte do trabalho de campo. O meu obrigado também ao Abílio, por ter aceite ceder a viatura sob sua gestão, para a realização dos transectos. Um obrigado aos Diretores das Áreas Protegidas, Sadjo Danfa, Quintino Tchantchalam, António Silva e Fernando Biague, por terem facilitado as estadias e o trabalho dentro das Áreas Protegidas sob sua gerência. Agradeço também a todos os guarda-parque e colaboradores que participaram neste trabalho, e todos os membros das comunidades por onde passámos, pela hospitalidade fantástica. À Safi, por cuidar de mim entre cada missão ao terreno com tanto carinho e dedicação.

Por fim, à minha família, meu pilar, minha fonte de força. Antes de mais ninguém, à minha mãe, que concentrou todas as suas forças em deixar o maior legado que uma mãe pode deixar aos filhos: uma boa educação, moral, integridade e muito amor. Sempre o disse e agora ainda mais o repito: és o meu ídolo e quando penso em ser alguém na vida, é para o teu exemplo que olho. Espero orgulhar-te com este trabalho e orgulhar-te mais como homem no futuro. Dedico também este trabalho ao Pierre, que não só é como um pai para mim, mas também sempre foi uma luz exemplar que me guiou e inspirou ao longo deste percurso árduo. A tua inteligência, bondade, amizade, companheirismo e dedicação a todos os aspetos da tua vida constituem tudo o que gostaria de ser como homem. És, a todos os níveis, alguém que admiro profundamente e que adoro. Obrigado por todo o apoio, seja no campo, nas saídas que pudeste fazer comigo, como nas conversas que me ajudaram a organizar as ideias. Os teus ensinamentos estão também espelhados aqui nesta tese. À minha mana querida, minha flor. Estar longe de ti é das coisas que mais me dói, mas dedico-te esta tese por todo o apoio e conselhos que me deste ao longo deste percurso, por me fazeres sentir sempre que sou capaz e por acreditares em mim. Por me amares incondicionalmente, tal como te amo a ti. Constituis um exemplo de força incrível e és uma supermulher e uma supermamã. À minha sobrinha linda, Luana, a quem espero dar um bom exemplo com este trabalho. À minha tia Matilde, por ser a protetora da família e por nos receber sempre em sua casa com amor. Aos meus primos Anta, Hélder e Bruno, por constituírem exemplos para mim em diferentes aspetos. À minha tia Rosário, a minha segunda mãe, por acreditar sempre em mim e por ser a melhor e mais doce pessoa que conheci. Ao meu tio Rui, por constituir para mim o melhor exemplo do que um homem deve ser para a sua família e para a sua mulher. Aos meus irmãos, Ivo, David, Bruno e Walmor, pela incondicional amizade e companheirismo e por constituírem um porto seguro, onde sei que terei sempre apoio e bons conselhos. À Diana Monteiro, por toda a dedicação, carinho e ajuda que me forneceste durante o primeiro ano da tese, que sem os quais certamente não teria chegado aqui. Ao meu Davi, para sempre meu filhote, que espero poder um dia levar para o campo ver *piu pius* comigo e voltar a disfrutar desse riso delicioso. À Rosa Romero, pelo carinho e grande simpatia e por me ter feito a alegre surpresa de ter vindo assistir à minha defesa de tese. E por fim, para ti, Joana Romero, que foste,

de todas as formas e em todos os sentidos, a pessoa mais importante e que literalmente fez este percurso final todo comigo, sofrendo ao meu lado, chorando ao meu lado, rindo ao meu lado, acampando ao meu lado, correndo ao meu lado, parando ao meu lado e sangrando ao meu lado. Conhecer-te foi a maior bênção que poderia ter e o teu amor é a minha estrela guia. Não há palavras que consigam descrever o que significas para mim e o quão importante a tua presença e a tua ajuda foi para a concretização desta tese. Espero poder caminhar de mãos dadas contigo para o resto dos meus dias.

A todos vós, e a todos a que não referi o nome, mas que contribuíram para este trabalho, o meu mais sincero agradecimento.

Resumo

Os abutres são os necrófagos mais bem-sucedidos da natureza e os únicos a apresentar atualmente uma dieta quase exclusivamente baseada em animais mortos. Existem atualmente 23 espécies de abutres descritas globalmente, 11 das quais ocorrem em África. Como um grupo relativamente diverso no que concerne ao comportamento alimentar, os abutres do Velho Mundo apresentam diferentes estratégias de alimentação. Alguns foram até capazes de se adaptar a ambientes modificados pelo homem, desenvolvendo uma relação comensal. Fisiologicamente os abutres desenvolveram níveis de pH extremamente baixos no seu trato digestivo, uma adaptação fulcral para destruir a maior parte dos microrganismos e reduzir fortemente a probabilidade de constituírem fontes de infeções e transmissão de doenças.

As populações de abutres enfrentam atualmente um dos declínios mais rápidos jamais registados para espécies de aves e são hoje o grupo funcional de aves mais ameaçado globalmente. Como espécieschave, o seu desaparecimento acarreta um vasto leque de consequências a nível socioeconómico, cultural e na biodiversidade, principalmente sobre a saúde humana, custos para a indústria, custos de eliminação de desperdícios pelas comunidades, sobre os valores culturais e religiosos e outros impactos sobre a biodiversidade.

Declínios dramáticos têm sido reportados no continente africano, especialmente no Oeste e no Este. Na África Ocidental, contagens realizadas no Sahel demostraram declínios na ordem dos 98% fora das áreas protegidas, num período de 35 anos. Na África Oriental mais declínios foram reportados, como foi o caso no centro do Quénia, onde contagens de 3 anos reportaram declínios de 70% das aves necrófagas. No ecossistema do Masai Mara, várias espécies de abutres sofreram também declínios de 44 a 62% num período de 30 anos. A principal causa subjacente a estes declínios é o envenenamento intencional e não intencional. Outras causas propostas incluem a perseguição humana para partes do corpo para feitiçaria, declínio de ungulados selvagens, caça para fonte de alimento humano, a evolução das condições sanitárias, com a introdução de sistemas fechados de abate de gado, ou a evolução das condições de tratamento de lixo em alguns centros urbanos de África. Todos estes declínios reportados e respetivas causas sugerem um problema à escala continental.

Apesar de ainda haverem muitas lacunas relativamente ao estado das populações de abutres africanos, trabalhos recentes já motivaram várias atualizações no estatuto de ameaça destes necrófagos, havendo presentemente apenas 2 espécies que não figuram na Lista Vermelha da UICN como ameaçadas (abutre-das-palmeiras *Gypohierax angolensis* e o grifo europeu *Gyps fulvus*). Ainda assim, para muitas áreas e países, virtualmente nada se sabe sobre o estado das populações, tendências e ameaças.

A Guiné-Bissau alberga 5 espécies de abutres, a maior parte delas listadas como ameaçadas globalmente pela UICN. Pelo menos três (*Necrosyrtes monachus, Gyps africanus e Gypohierax angolensis*) são ainda abundantes.

Este estudo tem por objetivo avaliar o estado das populações de abutres na Guiné-Bissau, estabelecer dados de referência relativamente à abundancia e distribuição de todas as espécies por todo o território e providenciar as primeiras indicações sobre possíveis ameaças que possam estar a afetar os abutres. Está dividido em 3 capítulos, os quais descrevemos sumariamente abaixo.

No primeiro capítulo apresentamos uma visão alargada sobre a distribuição, a abundância relativa, e as ameaças a todas as espécies de abutres do país, descrevendo a sua relação com outras aves necrófagas facultativas. Realizámos 1,733 km de transectos de carro e registámos 4,313 *Necrosyrtes monachus* (326 aves/100 km), 160 grifos (8.65/100 km, dos quais 80% eram *Gyps africanus*, 2% *Gyps rueppelli* e 18% grifos não identificados), 24 *Gypohierax angolensis*, 3 *Trigonoceps occipitalis*, 275 *Milvus migrans parasitus* (18.65/100 km), e 274 *Corvus albus* (22.31/100 km). Paralelamente realizámos pontos de contagem de 2 minutos em áreas abertas que permitiram amostrar o arquipélago dos Bijagós e as áreas com vegetação mais densa, e a partir dos quais medimos índices pontuais de abundância (média do

número de aves por ponto de contagem, por 2 minutos de contagem). Por este meio confirmámos a ausência de grifos nas ilhas. Os restantes valores de abundância obtidos forneceram informação semelhante à dos transectos de estrada. Estudámos quais os preditores da distribuição das abundâncias dos abutres e das outras aves necrófagas facultativas, em conjugação com uma análise preliminar sobre o uso do habitat e os ambientes antrópicos demostraram ser o fator mais importante para todas as espécies, menos para os grifos. Neste capítulo, as conclusões mais relevantes foram: (1) a abundância relativa de Necrosyrtes monachus é das maiores reportadas em toda a sua distribuição, enquanto os Gyps africanus também se apresentam em números importantes; (2) não há indícios de competição entre os M. m. parasitus e os abutres, enquanto os Corvus albus apresentam um perfil mais competitivo nos centros urbanos ao Necrosyrtes monachus; (3) os ambientes antrópicos parecem desempenhar uma função importante no padrão de uso de habitat destas aves necrófagas; (4) relatos provenientes de entrevistas informais com criadores de gado, comerciantes de carne, veterinários, líderes religiosos e das aldeias, curandeiros tradicionais e feiticeiros indicam que as ameaças reportadas noutros países para os abutres têm ainda uma expressão limitada na Guiné-Bissau. No entanto, parecem existir zonas do país onde há casos de envenenamento, de forma indireta, e que a perseguição para uso na medicina tradicional e feiticaria tem uma expressão alegadamente crescente.

No segundo capítulo focamo-nos na espécie mais abundante no país, Necrosyrtes monachus, avaliando a sua abundância total a nível nacional. Estudámos os padrões de atividade diária destes abutres no centro urbano de Bissau, permitindo refinar as metodologias desenvolvidas para o censo de abutres durante este estudo. Estas observações demostraram que estas aves estão activas entre as 9:20h e as 17:10h. Para estimar a abundância total em toda o país, amostrámos 21 povoações usando dois métodos: transectos de bicicleta com banda de largura fixa, com o qual amostrámos as cidades de Bissau e Gabú, e contagens de carro em períodos de baixa atividade de abutres, para amostrar as restantes povoações de tamanho médio e pequeno. Os dois métodos foram executados de manhã cedo e ao final da tarde. Estimámos 7,335 abutres para Bissau, e 809 para Gabú, usando as distâncias de avistamento calcular densidades e extrapolar para a área de cada cidade. Usámos os resultados das contagens de abutres nas 19 povoações numa regressão linear com a quantidade de pessoas em cada povoação, seguindo a premissa da forte associação dos *Necrosyrtes monachus* às pessoas. Somando o resultado das predições às estimativas das duas maiores cidades, estimámos entre 67,908 e 88,323 aves, correspondente a 34 – 44% da população global da espécie. As principais conclusões tiradas deste estudo foram: (1) a conjugação destes dois métodos providencia uma alternativa válida para estimar a população total desta espécie no país, com potencial para replicação noutras áreas; (2) esta é a primeira estimativa populacional de Necrosyrtes monachus realizada para o país, e das poucas materializadas na África Ocidental. A importância da Guiné-Bissau para esta espécie criticamente ameaçada fica bem salientada.

No terceiro capítulo apresentamos um pequeno estudo sobre a abundancia sazonal dos *Gypohierax angolensis* no Parque Nacional Marinho João Vieira e Poilão (PNMJVP), no arquipélago dos Bijagós, Guiné-Bissau. Realizámos transectos de praia a pé, ao redor das 4 ilhas que compõem o PNMJVP, e contámos todos os indivíduos adultos e imaturos avistados. As contagens foram realizadas na época seca e época das chuvas. Calculámos a média para cada época, por ilha, e obtivemos um resultado de 265 aves (SD = ± 9.8 , n = 5) na época seca, e 305 (SD = ± 38.9 , n = 10) na época das chuvas. A ilha com maior número de abutres nas duas épocas é João Vieira. Contámos 8 aves/km em todo o PNMJVP (num total de 36.2 km), com Poilão a apresentar a maior abundância relativa (16.3 aves/km), assim como a maior variação no número de aves imaturas entre a época seca e a chuvosa (de 5 para 23 aves). Meio apresentou também uma importante variação percentual de aves imaturas (aumento em 11.4%). Em Poilão contámos 5x mais abutres na época chuvosa do que na seca, o que poderá ser explicado pelo *input* de aves nascidas na época de reprodução anterior (durante a época seca) ou pela presença de aves vindas de outras ilhas do arquipélago, atraídas pela colónia de reprodução de tartarugas marinhas, que

tem o seu pico na época chuvosa. Estas contagens indicam apenas um número mínimo de aves existentes na área protegida. Com base na nossa experiência da área de estudo, estimamos grosseiramente que o número de abutres-das-palmeiras no PNMJVP andará entre as 355 e as 525 aves. Isto fornece indicações que suportam a premissa da importância desta população a nível nacional e regional.

Este estudo permitiu estabelecer uma situação de referência sobre as populações de abutres, o que irá ser importante para estabelecer comparações futuras e avaliar tendências populacionais. O desenvolvimento de protocolos metodológicos no decurso deste trabalho poderá ser uma base importante para a implementação de um programa de monitorização de abutres no país. As estimativas populacionais para duas espécies de abutres, uma a nível nacional, e outra para uma área protegida, são importantes no desenvolvimento de planos de gestão e no estabelecimento de prioridades de conservação.

Table of Contents

General Introduction	1
Chapter 1: Distribution and abundance of vultures and other avian scavengers in Guinea- Bissau, with insights over their conservation status	4
Introduction	4
Methods	5
Study Area	5
Field methods	6
Data analysis	7
Results	8
Roadside transects and encounter rates	8
Point-counts and Punctual abundance indexes (PAI)	8
Mapping the distribution and abundance	8
Predictors of distribution and abundance	9
Distribution over habitats	14
Discussion	14
Vulture abundance and distribution in Guinea-Bissau: the first baseline-data	14
Vultures and facultative avian scavengers	16
Distribution over habitats: the importance of human-altered environments to avian scavengers in Guinea-Bissau	17
Insights on increasing conservation issues	17
Chapter 2: Estimating the population of hooded vultures <i>Necrosyrtes monachus</i> in Guinea-	
Bissau	19
Introduction	19
Methods	21
Study Area	21
Field methods	21
Data analysis	22
Results	23
Daily activity pattern in an urban centre	23
Nationwide population estimate	24
Daily activity pattern in an urban centre	25
Guinea-Bissau: a stronghold for hooded vultures?	26
Monitoring, conservation and environmental education: a recipe to save vultures	27
Chapter 3: Population estimate and observations on seasonal movements of the palm-nut vulture <i>Gypohierax angolensis</i> in the João Vieira and Poilão Marine National Park, Guinea-Bissau	28

Introduction	28
Methods	29
Study Area	29
Field Methods	
Data analysis	
Results	31
Total abundance and encounter rates	31
Spatial and seasonal variation of the population	31
Discussion	32
Total abundance estimates and encounter rates	32
Spatial and seasonal variation of the population	32
Final Considerations	34
References	35
Supplementary materials	42
Section I: Abundance indexes per administrative division	42
Section II: Abundance maps for the white-backed vulture Gyps africanus	43
Section III: Maps of predictor variables	44
Section IV: Distribution over habitats	48
Section IV: Abundance of palm-nut vultures	49

List of Tables

Table 1.1.	8
Table 1.2.	9
Table 1.3.	15
Table 2.1.	24
Table 3.1.	
Table 1. (Section I – Supp. Materials)	42
Table 2. (Section IV – Supp. Materials)	
Table 3. (Section V – Supp. Materials)	49

List of Figures

Figure 1.1.	6
Figure 1.2.	10
Figure 1.3.	10
Figure 1.4.	11
Figure 1.5.	11
Figure 1.6.	12
Figure 1.7.	12
Figure 1.8.	13
Figure 1.9.	13
Figure 1.10	14
Figure 1.11	15
Figure 2.1.	22
Figure 2.2.	23
Figure 2.3.	24
Figure 2.4	25
Figure 3.1	29
Figure 3.2.	31
Figure 1. (Section II – Supp. Materials)	43
Figure 2. (Section II – Supp. Materials)	43
Figure 3. (Section III – Supp. Materials)	44
Figure 4. (Section III – Supp. Materials)	.44
Figure 5. (Section III – Supp. Materials)	.45
Figure 6. (Section III – Supp. Materials)	.45
Figure 7. (Section III – Supp. Materials)	.46
Figure 8. (Section III – Supp. Materials)	.46
Figure 9. (Section III – Supp. Materials)	.47

General Introduction

Vultures are nature's most successful scavenging vertebrates (Ogada et al. 2012a) and the only ones among extant vertebrates having a diet based almost exclusively on carrion (Ruxton & Houston 2004). This group is divided in two quite distinct lineages but that are an example of convergent evolution: the Old World vultures, included into the Accipitridae family, and New World vultures, the Catarthidae family, being the former distributed across Africa, Asia and Europe and the later confined to the American supercontinent (Houston 1985; Seibold & Helbig 1995; Lerner & Mindell 2005; O'Neal Campbell 2016). Both lineages share the general traits that characterize vultures: large body size (compared to other groups of birds), hooked bill, naked or downy head, food-holding crop, plumage patterns, common dependence on souring on air currents, among others. They differ essentially in the type of habitat of occurrence (Old World vultures are mainly confined to open habitats such as savannahs, grasslands and semi-deserts, in opposition to their New World counterparts, with several species adapted to closed forested environments), and in the foraging strategy (New World vultures developed a keen sense of smell, which they use to locate carcasses in dense forest, while Old World vultures rely mainly on eyesight to do so) (Houston 1985; Ogada et al. 2012a; O'Neal Campbell 2016). There are 23 species of vultures described globally, of which 16 occurs in the Old World. Vulture-rich regions include Central and South America (n = 6 spp.), South Asia (n = 10 spp.), and Africa (n=11 spp.) (Mundy et al. 2001; O'Neal Campbell 2016).

As a relatively diversified group when it comes to feeding behaviour, Old World vultures present different foraging strategies (Houston 1985). This is the case for griffons, known to forage collectively for carrion and sometimes congregate in several hundred (up to a thousand) over carcasses of dead large animals in the wild (Mundy et al. 2001; O'Neal Campbell 2016). By keeping visual contact with conspecifics, griffons manage to benefit from a local enhancement effect following other vultures that descends to carcasses (Houston 1974a; Kane et al. 2014). Some vultures could adapt human-modified even to environments, such as livestock farming areas, slaughter-houses or rubbish dumps in highly urbanised areas, which is the case of the hooded (Necrosyrtes *monachus*) and the Egyptian (Neophron *percnopterus*) vultures, who developed a commensal relationship with humans (Gangoso et al. 2013; O'Neal Campbell 2016). Physiologically vultures developed very low pH levels in their digestive tracts (pH 1-2), which is to most importance destroy of most microorganisms and greatly reduce the probability of vultures to act as sources of infection at carcasses. As a result of this adaptation, their gastric acid is extremely corrosive, allowing vultures to easily digest rotting carcasses infested with many potentially dangerous bacteria. Therefore, the digestive tract of vultures is likely to destroy all except the most resistant of organisms. (Houston 1974b; Houston & Cooper 1975; Turnbull et al. 2008; Chung et al. 2015; Buechley & Şekercioğlu 2016).

Vultures soar over large distances in search of food. However, during the breeding season, which may span well over half a year, these birds must necessarily concentrate their activities around nesting sites (Monadjem & Garcelon 2005). Nesting habitat requirements can vary among species but, in general, well conserved areas are needed for them to successfully breed (open wooded savannah, tall tree areas, riparian vegetation or cliffs) (Monadjem & Garcelon 2005; O'Neal Campbell 2016).

Vultures have some of the lowest reproductive rates among birds (often laying a mean of less than one egg per year, and showing delayed maturity), and their populations are particularly vulnerable to high mortality, whether by natural or human causes (Ogada et al. 2012a). Currently, vulture populations face some of the most rapid declines ever recorded for any bird species and are the most threatened foraging guild of birds globally (Askew 2014; Buechley & Şekercioğlu 2016).

As scavengers, vultures play an important ecological role and these declines have a range of

socio-economic, cultural and biodiversity impacts, mainly on human health, costs to industry, disposal costs to local communities, cultural and religious values and other biodiversity impacts, among others (Sekercioğlu et al. 2004; Markandya et al. 2008; Buechley & Şekercioğlu 2016). Vultures are often the firsts to arrive at carcasses (Houston 1974a; Hunter et al. 2007; Kendall 2013). Therefore, their absence may affect the community composition of scavengers, altering scavenging rates for individual species (Hunter et al. 2007; Ogada et al. 2012b; Barton et al. 2013; Moleón et al. 2015). This can result in rapid increase of opportunistic species like feral dogs and rats and promote more contact between potentially infected individuals. Thus, the absence of vultures will more likely increase the probability of the transmission of diseases like rabies and bubonic plague (Markandya et al. 2008; Ogada et al. 2012b). Finally, some species of adapted to human-altered vultures have environments and provide ecosystem services of much importance to urban areas like the disposal of waste in towns. This is the case for the Egyptian and hooded vultures (Ogada & Buij 2011; Gangoso et al. 2013). Markadya et al. (2008) estimated the cost of vulture declines in India for human health over the period of 1992 to 2006 to be up to around €15.5 billion.

Following the "Asian vulture crisis" (more than 99% decline of Gyps vultures in just 15 years in the Indian sub-continent due to poisoning from the anti-inflammatory non-steroidal drug diclofenac) (Green et al. 2004; Pain et al. 2008), the alarm was launched for African vultures as well. Some dramatic declines have been reported recently in Africa, but nevertheless the African vulture crisis is still poorly documented. For example, in the Western region, surveys conducted in the Sahel showed 98% population declines outside protected areas in a 35-year period (Rondeau & Thiollay 2004; Thiollay 2006a, 2006c, 2007a; Ogada et al. 2015a). In East Africa, more declines have been highlighted by researchers, as is the case for Central Kenya, where the 3-year survey results conducted on raptors between 2001-2003 suggest an overall decline rate of approximately 50% per year for scavenging birds (total of 70% over the study period) (Ogada et al. 2013) and in the Masai Mara ecosystem, where considerable declines in several vulture species where detected in a 30-year period (hooded vulture (62%), Gyps vultures (52%), lappet-faced vulture *Torgos tracheliotus* (50%), white-headed vulture *Trigonoceps occipitalis* (44%)) (Virani et al. 2011). More recently, in western Kenya, Odino et al. (2014) reported some evidences of declines of hooded vultures in dumpsites and slaughterhouses since 2000.

The main underlying cause of these declines is intentional poisoning (Bridgeford 2001; Ogada 2014a, 2014b, Ogada et al. 2015a, 2015b, 2015b, 2015c; Buechley & Şekercioğlu 2016; Virani 2016), but indirect and unintentional sources of poisoning, like the indiscriminate use of pesticides, rodentices and veterinary medicines are also pointed out as important threats for the population survival (Thiollay 2006a; Ogada 2014a; Richards & Ogada 2015). The intensive use of vultures for traditional medicine and sorcery is common and have been reported in several West African countries, with evidences of relevant impact in the populations (Thiollay 2006b; Ogada & Buij 2011; Ogada 2012; Williams et al. 2014; Atuo et al. 2015; Buij et al. 2015). Hunting for food is less commonly reported but it allegedly resulted in some local extinctions in Ivory Coast and Nigeria (Rondeau & Thiollay 2004; Ogada & Buij 2011; Gbogbo et al. 2016). Other causes reported in some countries are the evolution of sanitary conditions, with the introduction of closed-system slaughter-houses, and the evolution of waste management of urban centres, which affect the amount of food available (Gbogbo & Awotwe-pratt 2008; Campbell 2009; Odino et al. 2014b; Gbogbo et al. 2016). All these reports of declines suggest that there may be a continental-scale problem, similar in extent though more protracted - than the Asian situation, and as yet poorly documented (Ogada et al. 2015a).

While still with important gaps, the existing information and research is definitely increasing present knowledge on vulture population status, as there are already several cases of up-listing in the IUCN Red List of Threatened Species suggested by these scientists (Koenig 2006; IUCN 2016). Nevertheless, for many areas and countries, virtually nothing is known on vulture population status, trends and threats, hampering the development of adequate conservation strategies (Anderson 2007; Ogada et al. 2015a). This is the case for Guinea-Bissau, a small West African country which is home to 5 vulture species, most of them listed by the IUCN as globally endangered, namely: Necrosyrtes monachus (hooded - Critically Endangered), Gyps africanus (white-backed - Critically Endangered), Gyps rueppelli (Rüppell's - Critically Endangered), Gypohierax angolensis (palm-nut – Least Concern) and Trigonoceps occipitalis (whiteheaded - Critically Endangered) (Dodman et al. 2004; Borrow & Demey 2014; IUCN 2016). At least 3 (hooded, white-backed and palm-nut vultures) are still apparently abundant. The status and trends of vulture populations in the country is still unknown, but given the overall trend in West Africa and underlying causes for the astonishing declines reported, there is an urgent need to establish baseline information concerning population's abundances and identify possible threats. It is also important to raise awareness for vulture conservation by promoting their profile as providers of ecosystem services, notably in sub-Saharan West Africa, where the pressure on wildlife and their supporting habitats is high due to some of the highest human densities and growth rates on the continent (UNECA 2012).

In this study, we aim to assess the status of vulture populations in Guinea-Bissau, delivering the first baseline data on the abundance and distribution of all vulture species throughout the country, including the Bijagós archipelago, and give the first insights on conservation issues that may be affecting vultures in the study area. It is divided in 3 chapters, each with focus on the following components: in the first chapter, we provide a broad overview of the distribution, the relative abundance and an insight on threats of all vulture species in Guinea-Bissau, and describe their relation with other avian scavengers; in the second chapter, we focus on the most abundant species of vulture, the hooded vulture, assessing its total abundance on the country using alternative methods developed during this study; in the third chapter, we present a small study on the seasonal abundance of palm-nut vultures in the João Vieira/Poilão Marine National Park, in the Bijagós archipelago, Guinea-Bissau.

Chapter 1: Distribution and abundance of vultures and other avian scavengers in Guinea-Bissau, with insights over their conservation status

Abstract: The "African vulture crisis" is currently in full force, with vultures considered the most threatened avian functional guild in the world. The main causes for these trends are becoming clearer, as more reports on declines in several African countries are coming to light. Unintentional and intentional poisoning were recognized as the most serious threats. Nonetheless, for several areas and countries, virtually nothing is known on vulture population status, trends and threats, as is the case for Guinea-Bissau, in West Africa. In this study we deliver the first baseline data on vulture populations and other avian scavengers in all of Guinea-Bissau's territory, study the factors influencing the patterns of the distribution of their abundance, analyze the distribution over the habitats, and overview some insights on possible threats affecting vulture conservation in the country. We conducted 1,733 km of road surveys and 184 point-counts between mid-February and end-April of 2016. Hooded vultures were the most common and widespread species (82.7% of all sightings), and encounter rates were among the highest recorded for the species (326 birds/100 km). White-backed vultures were fairly abundant in the northwest (7.2 birds/100 km for all study area), while Rüppell's and white-headed vultures were overall very rare. Pied crows and yellow-billed kites were common (22.3 and 18.7 birds/100 km) but the marabou stork was only sighted once. Hooded vultures, yellow-billed kites and pied crow's abundance distributions were significantly related to human population density, whereas griffons showed no significant relation to any predictor. Main potential threats reported during informal interviews were unintentional poisoning and prosecution for body parts for sorcery and traditional medicine. This study demonstrates the importance of vulture populations in Guinea-Bissau, especially hooded and whitebacked vultures. We suggest the implementation of a monitoring program using the methods refined in this study and awareness actions in identified areas.

Keyword: Guinea-Bissau, vultures, West Africa, abundance, avian scavengers

Introduction

Vultures are the only vertebrates that are obligate scavengers, being almost exclusively dependant of carrion to feed (Houston 1974b; Ruxton & Houston 2004; Buechley & Şekercioğlu 2016). Because they developed so many specific adaptations, like keen eye-sight, large wings for soaring, acid digestive tract, long and bald neck and heads, and feet adapted to walking on the ground, this group of birds have become a crucial element in the functionality of some terrestrial ecosystems (Ruxton & Houston 2004;Sekercioğlu et al. 2004; Ogada et al. 2012a; Chung et al. 2015; O'Neal Campbell 2016). Other birds also developed scavenging have as an opportunistic foraging strategy (Pomeroy 1975; Sekercioğlu et al. 2004; O'Neal Campbell 2016). Therefore, a competitive relationship can develop between vultures and non-obligate scavengers like storks, corvids, large gulls, eagles, kites and other predatory raptors (Buechley & Şekercioğlu 2016; O'Neal Campbell 2016).

Such specialized birds as vultures are very prone to extinction (Buechley & Şekercioğlu 2016). And indeed vulture populations are facing massive declines in almost all ecosystems and in all the world, with 16 of the 23 species of Old and New World vultures endangered (Buechley & Şekercioğlu 2016; IUCN 2016; O'Neal Campbell 2016). There are several causes of declines, which may vary among the continents, but unintentional and intentional poisoning is definitely the most serious threat (Prakash et al. 2003; Pain et al. 2008; Ogada et al. 2012a, 2015a; Ogada 2014a; Richards & Ogada 2015; Buechley & Şekercioğlu 2016; O'Neal Campbell 2016). Having such an important role in ecosystems, the consequences of their disappearance have already been felt in Asia (see Markandya et al. 2008) and are also beginning to be reported all over the African continent (Ogada et al. 2015a).

The "African vulture crisis", which is currently in full force, is being finally discussed and researched at a continental scale, with parties coming together to develop a common strategy to save vultures (Botha et al. 2012; Ogada et al. 2015a). After the first Pan-African Vulture Summit in 2012, many researchers have been publishing reports on declines in several African countries and threats have been clarified for a considerable range (Virani et al. 2011; Kendall & Virani 2012; Ogada et al. 2012a, 2015a, 2015b; Odino et al. 2014b; Ogada 2014a; Whytock et al. 2014; Buij et al. 2015). Nonetheless, for several areas and countries, virtually nothing is known on vulture population status, trends and threats (Anderson 2007; Ogada & Buij 2011; Ogada et al. 2015a), hampering the development of adequate conservation strategies.

Guinea-Bissau is included in the West African region, one of the areas with the highest vulture population decline rates reported for the continent (Rondeau & Thiollay 2004; Thiollay 2006b; Ogada et al. 2015a; Buechley & Şekercioğlu 2016). However, nothing has ever been published concerning vultures in the country, neither there has been any systematic work focusing on these birds. Given the overall trend in West Africa and underlying causes for the astonishing declines reported, there is an urgent need to establish baseline information concerning population's distribution and abundances. It is also important to identify possible threats for vultures in the country and ways for addressing them.

Guinea-Bissau is home to 5 vulture species: hooded vulture *Necrosyrtes monachus*, whitebacked vulture *Gyps africanus*, Rüppell's vulture *Gyps rueppelli*, white-headed vulture *Trigonoceps occipitalis*, and palm-nut vulture *Gypohierax angolensis* (Dodman et al. 2004; Borrow & Demey 2014). The first four species are currently listed in the IUCN Red List as Critically Endangered, while the palm-nut vulture is considered of Least Concern. At least three (hooded, white-backed and palm-nut vultures) are still common and, perhaps, abundant in many parts of the country. The main terrestrial nonobligate avian scavengers include pied-crows *Corvus albus*, yellow-billed kites *Milvus migrans parasitus*, and to a small extent also Marabou storks *Leptoptilos crumenifer* (Dodman et al. 2004; Borrow & Demey 2014).

In our study we aim to deliver the first baseline data on vulture populations and other avian scavengers by studying their distribution and abundance in virtually all of Guinea-Bissau's territory. We also study the factors influencing the abundance distribution patterns of their throughout the country and analyse the distribution over the habitats. Finally, we overview some insights on possible threats and conflict sources with humans that can affect vulture conservation in the country, based on informal talks conducted with several key stakeholders during field work.

Methods

Study Area

Guinea-Bissau is a small (36,125 km²) West African country. It has a tropical humid climate with a bi-seasonal variation resulting in rainy (from May to October) and a dry (from November to April) seasons. The country is situated in a transition zone between Congo-Guinean and Sudanian environments (Ministério de Desenvolvimento Rural e Agricultura n.d.; Dodman et al. 2004). It is essentially flat, with maximum altitude values around 300 metres and has an interesting diversity of natural habitats, of which the most important in the interior are humid and dry savannas and different types of forests (palm, sub-humid, dry, gallery forests, among others) (Ministério de Desenvolvimento Rural e Agricultura n.d.). Along the coast and in the Bijagós archipelago are the palm and mangrove forests, salt marshes and extensive mudflats and sandbanks (Dodman et al. 2004). Humanmodified habitats include crop areas (mainly rice fields), cashew plantations and some urban areas. Livestock farming is one of the most important subsistence activities (United Nations Statistic Division 2016), with total grazing areas estimated to be around 35% of the country's surface area (Direcção Geral da Pecuária 2010). Guinea-Bissau has currently 8 Protected Areas covering around 9,520 km², of which 5 are in mainland and 3 are part of the Biosphere Reserve of the archipelago of Bolama/Bijagós (Instituto da Biodiversidade e das Áreas Protegidas 2014). The main faunal biodiversity is concentrated inside protected areas. The large wild vertebrates such as elephants and ungulates are currently rare over an important part of the country, with a total biomass likely to be small compared to livestock's. Nonetheless, this may not be the case in some forested areas in less humanized environments. In these places we may still find some wild fauna such as leopards and hyenas (Instituto da Biodiversidade e das Áreas Protegidas 2014).

Field methods

This study was conducted in Guinea-Bissau (mainland and Bijagós archipelago) during the dry season, between mid-February and end of April of 2016. We sampled all five vulture species recorded for the country but also recorded all sightings of yellow-billed kites, pied crows and marabou storks. To assess the distribution and relative abundance of the target species in the country we used two different approaches: roadside transects and point-counts.

Using the country's road network, we conducted roadside transects by car, a wellestablished method to study vultures and other large birds of prey (Thiollay 2001, 2006b; Prakash et al. 2003). Transects were carried out between 9:30h and 17:30h, during the period of the day in which vultures were most visible while riding thermal currents. Forty transects totalling 1,733 km were conducted in the country's mainland (Fig. 1.1). About 94% of the transect length was sampled by a team of 4 members, whereas 6% was conducted by 3 members, at least one of which was a well-trained ornithologist. All birds of the study species seen perched or flying on either side of roads were identified and counted while driving in a low nearly-constant speed (<50 km/h) and their position on the transect was recorded using a GPS. Stops were made only when necessary to identify birds, during which we did not record any new individuals observed. For every sighting, the observers registered the species, the time, the size of the group and the habitat over which it was spotted.

Point-counts, when placed in open areas, have the advantage of being much less sensitive than transects to differences in visibility among sampling units. Therefore, and to provide an alternative method for estimating the abundance and density of the target species in the country, we



Figure 1.1. Map of Guinea-Bissau, with transects and point-counts represented.

performed unlimited radius point-counts (Blondel et al. 1981; Hutto et al. 1986; Cyr et al. 1995; Bird & Bildstein 2007), in areas with at least 65% of the sky view unblocked by vegetation or buildings. We also preferred this method on islands where there are few or no roads. We conducted 184 GPS-recorded point-counts across all the country's mainland and also in the Bijagós archipelago, carried out between 9:30h and 17:30h. Point-counts were at least 4 km apart, or less if good sense dictates otherwise, based on visibility constrains to avoid any overlap (Hutto et al. 1986) (Fig. 1.1). One or two observers preformed a 2 or 4-minute count, respectively, scouting the area with binoculars (each observer covering a 180° section, in case of two observers). Every time a more difficult identification had to be done, we left it to the end of the counts, when possible, and quickly used a telescope and/or a photo camera to confirm the species.

Data analysis

Encounter rates

Encounter rates were calculated as the number of birds of a target species or group of species detected per kilometre of transect, providing an abundance index (Prakash et al. 2003; Thiollay 2006b; Pomeroy et al. 2014; Ogada et al. 2016). The selected unit of analysis was the Sector, an administrative division within the country (there are 37 Sectors in total). Thus, we assigned all transect data to the Sector where it was carried out. We calculated the encounter rates for all but five Sectors of Guinea-Bissau which were not surveyed for logistical reasons. We calculated the mean encounter rates (\pm SD) for each of the target species/group of species (n = 32 Sectors) at national level.

Punctual abundance indexes (PAI)

Using the point-counts data, we calculate the punctual abundance index (PAI), which represents the mean number of birds that are detected per 2 minutes in every point-count of each analysis unit (Blondel et al. 1981; Uezu et al. 2005). We used the Region as the analysis unit, the largest

administrative division within the country, and obtained an abundance index for all the 8 Regions. Sectors were not used for this analysis due to insufficient number of points in several of these.

Mapping the distribution and abundance

Encounter rates for each Sector were represented in a map of the country. We choose to compile all griffon detections in one group because several times we spotted juvenile griffons that we were not able to distinguish between white-backed and Rüppell's vultures. A similar procedure was used for PAI.

Predictors of distribution and abundance

We used multiple linear regressions to investigate the relationship between the encounter rates in each Sector for the study species, and the following potential explanatory variables: average annual Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI), mean annual temperature, annual temperature range, average annual precipitation, cattle density (heads per km²), absolute human population (people per Sector), and human population density (people per km²). The NDVI is an index (from -1 to 1) from remote sensing measurements that can show differences between water, barred areas (rock, sand or snow), grass and shrub lands, and tropical rainforests, here used to differentiate open areas from more dense habitats. Climatic variables were obtained from WorldClim (http://www.worldclim.org/) (Hijmans et al. 2005). Cattle density was obtained from Livestock Geo-Wiki (http://www.livestock.geo-wiki.org/) (Robinson et al. 2014). Human population data derived from counts during national population census (Instituto Nacional de Estatística 2009). Predictable variables are mapped for each sector in Section III of the Supplementary materials. Multiple linear regressions were run for species with enough number of sightings (hooded and griffon vultures, yellow-billed kites and pied crows), and variable selection followed a stepwise selection, based on AIC scores. When the model with lowest AIC included non-significant variables, we continued the stepwise procedure until only significant variables were left.

Habitat class	Description
Bolanhas	Rice fields in wet and saline environments
Cultivations	Plateau rice fields and gardens
Forests	All kind of natural forests, including palm tree forests
Human Settlements	All type of settlements with permanent or periodic presence of people
Lalas	Vast low ground areas flooded periodically, with grassy vegetation
Mixed	Areas with both natural and anthropogenic environments
Orchards	Mainly cashew trees, with also some mango trees
Savannahs	Sudan-Guinean savannahs, including wooded savannahs
Watlanda	Permanent or almost permanent humid habitats, including mangrove and rivers (both
weuands	salty and freshwater rivers)
NI	Non identified habitat (when habitat was not visible from the road)

Table 1.1. Habitat classes created for the analysis of the distribution over habitats.

Distribution over habitats

The analysis of the distribution over habitats was performed from data collected only with the roadside transect method, since point-count sites were mainly in open habitats. We calculated the proportion of birds of each species that were perched or flying over a certain type of habitat in the moment of detection. In this analysis, we excluded rare species that were not spotted in sufficient numbers and also palm-nut vultures, as our methods were inadequate for this species (palm-nut vultures are mainly found in palm forests, wetlands and in the islands). Habitats were grouped in 9 classes, plus 1 class for cases when it was not possible to determine habitat (Table 1.1).

Results

Roadside transects and encounter rates

We counted 4,509 vultures and 550 other avian scavengers (yellow-billed kites, pied crows and marabou storks combined) in the 1,733 km carried out all over the country (Table 1.2). While we saw all 5 species of vultures recorded for the country, only hooded and griffon vultures, yellow-billed kites and pied crows were seen in sufficient numbers to calculate encounter rates for each Sector (Section I of the Supplementary Materials). Hooded vultures were, by far, the most common species detected (82.7% of all sightings).

Point-counts and Punctual abundance indexes (PAI)

We counted 1,698 vultures and 426 other avian scavengers (yellow-billed kites and pied crows combined) in the 184 point-counts conducted, both in the islands (n = 22 points) and in mainland (n = 162 points) (Table 1.2). With this method we detected 4 of the 5 species of vultures recorded for the country and 2 of the 3 other avian scavengers. Only hooded and white-backed vultures, yellowbilled kites and pied crows were seen in sufficient number to calculate the PAI for each Region (Section I of the Supplementary Materials). Hooded vultures, as it was in the transect method, constituted the majority of sightings (73.4% of all detections combined). Palm-nut vultures were seen in good numbers, mainly in the islands, where there is a larger representation of its preferred habitat.

Mapping the distribution and abundance

Hooded vultures were present in all Sectors sampled being noticeably more abundant in Bissau (Fig. 1.2, see also Section I of the Supplementary Materials). The Sector with the lowest abundance was Boé (2 birds seen in 103.7 km of transect). Griffons were detected in 13 Sectors, with highest abundances in São Domingos, Quinhamel and Canchungo (Fig. 1.3). In the South there were almost no griffons (only 4 birds detected south of the Geba river). Abundance distribution of white-backed vultures' mimics almost entirely that represented by griffon's detections, since only 2% of the griffon

Table 1.2. Relative measures of abundance $(\pm SD)$ of all detected vultures and other avian scavengers at the national level, as measured during transect (n= 32 sectors) and point-count (n= 9 regions) surveys. NA – Not applicable, for species that were not seen in sufficient number to calculate encounter rates or, in the case of the palm-nut vultures, that are not well sampled by the method

	Tra	ansect surveys	Point-count surveys		
Species	Number of birds counted (birds/100 km ±SD)		Number of birds counted	Mean punctual abundance index (birds/point- count ± SD)	
Hooded vultures Necrosyrtes monachus	4313	326.44 (±503.32)	1559	13.68 (±20.46)	
Griffons G. africanus + G. rueppelli+ Gyps sp.	160	8.65 (±14.99)	65	0.30 (±0.55)	
White-backed vultures Gyps africanus	128	7.24 (±13.78)	63	0.296 (±0.53)	
Rüppell's vultures Gyps rueppelli	3	NA	0	NA	
Palm-nut vultures Gypohierax angolensis	24	NA	73	NA	
White-headed vultures Trigonoceps occipitalis	3	NA	1	NA	
Yellow-billed Kites Milvus migrans parasitus	275	18.65 (±22.46)	219	1.37 (±1.87)	
Pied Crows Corvus albus	274	22.31 (±56.24)	207	3.96 (±10.25)	
Marabou storks Leptoptilos crumenifer	1	NA	0	NA	

detections with confirmed identifications were Rüppell's vultures (see maps in Section II of the Supplementary Materials). Yellow-billed kites were detected in all but six Sectors, with a clear difference in abundance from North to South (only 7 birds seen south of the Geba river) (Fig 1.4). Finally, pied crows were present in 20 Sectors, the species being much more abundant in Bissau than elsewhere (Fig. 1.5).

Data collected with the point-count method confirms, at a larger scale (Region), the patterns obtained above with the mapping of the encounter rates for hooded vultures, being the species present in all the country (Fig. 1.6). In the Bijagós archipelago we found the second lowest PAI of the country (around 2 birds per point-count). We detected griffons in 7 of the 9 Regions, in line with data obtained from encounter rates (Fig. 1.7, see also Section I of the Supplementary Materials). Yellow-billed kites were present in every Region, with the highest abundance in Bafatá and the lowest in Gabú (Fig. 1.8). The PAI calculated for pied crows confirms the presence of the species in all but 2 Regions, namely Oio and Quinara (Fig. 1.9).

During transect surveys we detected only 3 Rüppell's vultures, 3 white-headed vultures and 1 marabou stork, while during point-counts only 1 white-headed vulture was spotted (Fig. 1.10). The vultures were seen only in the Northwest, in congregations of vultures over carcasses of dead farm animals (pig and cow) in rural human settlements. The marabou stork was only spotted flying over patches of well-conserved sub-humid forest, inside the Cufada Lagoons Natural Park, in the Sector of Fulacunda.

Predictors of distribution and abundance

Hooded vulture distribution of abundances was significantly related to human population density (F = 6.5 on 1 and 29 DF, Adjusted $R^2 = 0.155$, p = 0.016), whereas average annual NDVI, mean annual temperature, annual temperature range, average annual precipitation, cattle and absolute human population were excluded from the model. The same was observed with pied crows (F = 18.7 on 1 and 29 DF, Adjusted $R^2 = 0.37$, p = 0.00017). Yellow-billed kite distribution of abundances could be explained both by the human density and the average annual precipitation (F = 39.9 on 2 and



Longitude

Figure 1.2. Abundance of hooded vultures *Necrosyrtes monachus* in sampled Sectors of Guinea-Bissau obtained from road survey transects. Grey areas represent Sectors that were not sampled.



Longitude

Figure 1.3. Abundance of Griffon *Gyps sp.* vultures in sampled Sectors of Guinea-Bissau obtained from road survey transects. Grey areas represent Sectors that were not sampled.



Figure 1.4. Abundance of yellow-billed kites *Milvus migrans parasitus* in sampled Sectors of Guinea-Bissau obtained from road survey transects. Grey areas represent Sectors that were not sampled.



Figure 1.5. Abundance of pied crows *Corvus albus* in sampled Sectors of Guinea-Bissau obtained from road survey transects. Grey areas represent Sectors that were not sampled.



Longitude

Figure 1.6. Abundance of hooded vultures *Necrosyrtes monachus* in all Regions of Guinea-Bissau calculated from point-count surveys.



Figure 1.7. Abundance of griffon vultures *Gyps sp.* in all Regions of Guinea-Bissau calculated from point-count surveys.



Figure 1.8. Abundance of yellow-billed kites *Milvus migrans parasitus* in all Regions of Guinea-Bissau calculated from point-count surveys.



Figure 1.9. Abundance of pied crows *Corvus albus* in all Regions of Guinea-Bissau calculated from point-count surveys.



Figure 1.10. Map of the sightings of rare study species with both road surveys and point-counts during this study.

28 DF, Adjusted $R^2 = 0.72$, p < 0.0001). Griffons showed no significant relation with any of the selected explanatory variables.

Distribution over habitats

In general, most of the species analysed here were detected frequently in human settlement areas (Fig. 1.11). The majority (63%) of the 4,360 hooded vultures seen were landed on or flying over human settlements of different sizes. The 159 griffons detected were slightly more associated with savannahs (31%) than with human settlements (30%). 36% of the 275 yellow-billed kites seen were using human settlements, while a significant percentage (12%) was using lalas. Finally, pied crows are the species with the strongest association with human settlements, with 77% of the 297 birds detected using this habitat (see also Section III of the Supplementary Materials).

Discussion

Vulture abundance and distribution in Guinea-Bissau: the first baseline-data

In this study we present the first systematically collected data ever reported on the status of vulture populations in Guinea-Bissau.

Hooded vultures were by far the commonest of all vultures in the country. Our results suggest that its abundance in Guinea-Bissau represents one of the highest in all of the species range, only surpassed by recent reports for the Gambia (Table 1.3). However, in that same country, a survey conducted 10 years before counted 290 birds/100 km in and around Banjul (Barlow & Fulford 2013). Such large variation might be explained by the fact that the surveys conducted in 2013 and 2015 were carried out only in densely populated areas, which may introduce an important bias in the results. Hence, we analyse these numbers with caution.

The multiple linear regression results clearly demonstrate the importance of human population density in the distribution patterns of hooded vultures. Apart from cities, hooded vultures are



Figure 1.11. Distribution over habitats of detected study species during transect surveys in Guinea-Bissau mainland. NI - Non identified habitat, for detections that were impossible to assign to a habitat class. Refer to Table 1.1 for details on habitat classes.

Species	Guinea- Bissau ¹ (2016)	Guinea- Conakry ² (2006)	Western Gambia (2015) ³	West Africa ⁴ (2003 - 2004)	Cameroon ⁵ (2000)	Chad and Niger ⁶ (2010- 2012)	Uganda ⁷ (2008- 2013)	East Africa ⁸ (Northern Kenya/ Masai Mara) (2016/2003- 2005)
hooded vultures Necrosyrtes monachus	326.4	33.9	1750.0	62.6	33.9	0.7	0.5	3.1/2.3
Griffons Gyps spp.	8.7	7.7	-	21.4	40.3	4.8	11.6	10.1/46.1
Effort (km of transect)	1,733	3,635	195	8,353	1,359	14,905	8,232	2,356/3,400

Table 1.3. Comparing encounter rates (birds/100 km) between our study and other published data from elsewhere in Africa.

¹ Our study;

² Rondeau et al. 2008;

³ Jallow et al. 2016;

⁴ Sum of mean encounter rates in unprotected and protected areas in Burkina Faso, Mali and Niger (Thiollay 2006b);

⁵ Sum of mean encounter rates in unprotected and protected areas (Thiollay 2001);

⁶ Wacher et al. 2013;

⁷ Estimates calculated from GLMM fitted values and mean encounter rates summed from unprotected and protected areas (Pomeroy et al. 2014);

⁸ Virani et al. 2011; Ogada et al. 2016.

more numerous in the areas with the highest congregations of people, as it happens in the Northwest of the country, where people gather near the coast. More inland, hooded vulture abundance is also high in the Sectors of Bambadinca, Bafatá and Gabú, which holds important human populations in major urban centres like the cities of Gabú and Bafatá, the largest after Bissau. In these cities, a great deal of rubbish and refuses are available for these scavengers.

Our results show that griffons are still present in many parts of the country, and are even abundant in some Sectors, in which we counted between 24 - 57 birds/100 km. Comparing with encounter rates of griffons elsewhere, our results resemble those on neighbouring Guinea-Conakry and are also almost at the same level than those reported for many parts of East Africa, where griffons encounter favourable habitats with large populations of wild ungulates (Table 1.3).

The Northwest is clearly the area that is more important to these griffons, although it remains unclear which are the main drivers of this distribution, as regression analysis did not find cattle density to be significant. As expected, griffons are absent from all the forested areas of the South and do not occur in the Bijagós islands, which is mainly comprised by mangrove and palm forests.

Of all griffon detections recorded during this study, 80% were white-backed vultures Gyps africanus, while only 2% where Rüppell's Gyps rueppelli. The remaining 18% were griffons that we were not able to distinguish between the two species, mainly immature birds. Rüppell's vultures are rare in Guinea-Bissau and probably all unidentified griffons were white-backed vultures. Rüppell's vultures may be rare in Guinea-Bissau due to habitat constraints, especially for nesting, as they prefer cliffs (none available in Guinea-Bissau), and tree nesting is considered atypical (O'Neal Campbell 2016). Therefore, the occurrence of this species may have always been at least uncommon and birds that visit Guinea-Bissau may breed in Guinea-Conakry, where the species is considered common (Rondeau et al. 2008).

White-headed vultures *Trigonoceps occipitalis* appears to be currently very rare in the country, probably the rarest of all vultures. It occurs in low densities, as it happens in many parts of its range in West Africa (O'Neal Campbell 2016). White-headed vultures are different from other vultures in that they are mainly solitary foragers and most of the cases they occur in small groups of 2-4 birds (Murn & Holloway 2014; Murn et al. 2016). For that reason, it is harder to detect during surveys. Nonetheless, it is unclear if the present rarity results from a decline of the species, or whether white-headed vultures were also rare in the past.

Palm-nut vultures *Gypohierax angolensis* are probably the second most abundant species of vulture in the country, as shown by point-count results. The largest fraction of the population occurs in the Bijagós archipelago where the species is abundant (pers. obs.).

Vultures and facultative avian scavengers

Vultures are often dominant over facultative avian scavengers in natural habitats, but in human environments, namely in urban areas, this relationship may become inverse (Campbell 2009; Gbogbo et al. 2016; O'Neal Campbell 2016). In African urban centres and in rural human settlements, hooded vultures, kites and pied crows are known to compete over refuse in open-system slaughterhouses and in dumpsites (Pomeroy 1975; Boshoff & Boshoff 2007; Campbell 2009; O'Neal Campbell 2016).

In our study, we found that in the largest cities, namely Bissau and Gabú, yellow-billed kites were overall scarce to absent, while in more rural areas they were significantly associated to human settlements, as shown by the regression results. Nonetheless, yellow-billed kites in Guinea-Bissau appears to be less abundant than reported elsewhere (Pomeroy 1975; Thiollay 2007b; O'Neal Campbell 2016) and there were no clear evidences of a strong competition relationship between this species and vultures. Pied crows, on the other hand, were found mainly in large human settlements during our study, with the highest abundance in Bissau. The regression results showed that these corvids are highly related to human densities. Pied crows have already been reported to feed on the same food types than hooded vultures elsewhere (Annorbah & Holbech 2012), and the possibility that the crows have been outcompeting this vulture was reported in Accra (Gbogbo et al. 2016). Given the high adaptability and reproductive rate of this species in the presence of resources (Buechley & Şekercioğlu 2016) it is not unlikely that in the near future, similar outcompeting events may occur if the number of hooded vultures decreases. Therefore, it is important to monitor the evolution of this relation between obligate and facultative avian scavengers. Due to the scarcity of marabou storks (only 1 bird observed), this species is not a relevant competitor of vultures in Guinea-Bissau, as found in Ghana (Campbell 2009; Annorbah & Holbech 2012; Gbogbo et al. 2016).

Distribution over habitats: the importance of human-altered environments to avian scavengers in Guinea-Bissau

Our results confirm the importance of urban environments to hooded vultures and pied crows. As much as 75% of all hooded vultures and 80% of pied crows detected during road transects were associated with human-altered environments (human settlements, cultivations, bolanhas, orchards and mixed). Griffon vultures were usually found in open habitats, mostly savannahs and lalas (totalling 34% of all spotted individuals). On several occasions, we found these birds in flocks over carcasses of livestock. The presence of several small human settlements embedded in these natural environments contribute with food sources to griffons, which may be one of the reasons why 30% of these birds were spotted in such places. Human-altered environments in rural areas were also important for yellow-billed kites, reinforcing the evidences already presented in the regression analysis in this study. However, kites showed to be distributed over a large variety of habitats, being the study species more frequently spotted in wetlands, lalas and bolanhas. This may be explained in part by the extremely varied diet of this species (Scheider et al. 2004; Bijlsma et al. 2005 in The Peregrine Fund 2012; Kumar et al. 2014; BirdLife International 2016c).

Our overall results suggests that in Guinea-Bissau, human-vulture commensalism is a reality, as reported elsewhere in West Africa and the Yemen (Herremans & Herremans-Tonnoeyr 2000; Gbogbo & Awotwe-pratt 2008; Campbell 2009; Buij et al. 2013b; Gangoso et al. 2013; Morelli et al. 2015; Buechley & Şekercioğlu 2016). It is very likely that vultures in the country are currently very dependent on people due to the scarcity of wild fauna, hence their distribution and habitat use reported in this study. This is consistent with reports in the Cameroon, where the interaction between human populations and natural habitats were important predictors of Afrotropical raptor richness (Buij et al. 2013a) and hooded vulture abundance and distribution were found positively correlated higher to anthropogenic land-use degrees (Buij et al. 2013b).

Insights on increasing conservation issues

Distribution maps on griffons showed in this study suggest that these vultures are very scarce or absent in the extreme East, especially in the Sectors of Piche, Gabú, Boé and Bafatá. These areas have large extents of suitable habitat for these species, including some protected areas with very low human densities. Moreover, some of these Sectors are the ones with the highest abundance of cattle in the country (Direcção Geral da Pecuária 2010; DGA & DGP 2013). All these facts suggest that these Sectors should have more griffons than they actually hold currently. Hooded vultures (and other raptors) are also very scarce in the extreme East, namely in Piche and Pirada and are almost absent in Boé Sector. From several informal interviews with stakeholders (village leaders, livestock herders, veterinaries, butchers and others) during field trips, we captured information of great concern to vulture conservation. According to these reports, in some parts of the country, particularly in the East near areas with the presence of hyenas and leopards, there were events of poisoning campaigns organised by livestock herders and veterinaries as retaliation or prevention of attacks of these carnivores. In two of these reports, around 60

vultures were allegedly killed unintentionally (unidentified species). This may explain the unusually low number of vultures observed in those otherwise highly suitable areas and the inability to predict griffon distribution with the factors selected in this study. Vultures have very low reproduction rates (birds mature late and normally lay only one egg), which makes the populations very sensible to mortality.

The centre of the country also demonstrates to have less vultures than other parts. Griffons are totally absent of the majority of Sectors of the Region of Oio and hooded vultures are less abundant there than elsewhere in the country. These sectors are dominated in part by the ethnic groups of Mandingas and Balantas, which have important cultural and religious influences from Mali and Guinea-Conakry. We collected several reports of the increasing use of vultures in traditional medicine and sorcery, which is causing the persecution of vultures for body parts in the country, as it happens elsewhere (Williams et al. 2014; Buij et al. 2015; Ogada et al. 2015a). This was described as practices that were originally introduced by foreigners, namely from Mali, Guinea-Conakry and Sierra Leone. These practices do not appear to have a very significant expression yet, but are probably growing with unclear levels of impact, based on the frequency of these reports during the interviews. Therefore, it may be important to develop more research into the human activities of risk to vulture conservation. On the other hand, unlike reported in other countries (Whytock & Morgan 2010; Whytock et al. 2014; Buij et al. 2015), there were no reports of hunting for food, since vultures were generally regarded as "not eatable".

Vultures provide important ecosystem services in urban areas (Markandya et al. 2008; Ogada et al. 2012b; Buechley & Şekercioğlu 2016). These services are of great importance in a country like Guinea-Bissau, where healthcare services are very lacking, waste management capacity very rudimentary, and there is a lot of organic waste left on the streets. The prevalence and magnitude of threats for vultures in the country is largely unknown and there is urgent need to assess them. We also highlight the undeniable need for the implementation of a monitoring program, using the methodologies refined during this study, which would allow to detect important fluctuations in trends of vulture populations in the future. Finally, as we identify certain Sectors where there are suitable habitats but very few vultures and reports of poisoning events, awareness actions directed to these areas and to key stakeholders which can constitute a threat to vulture survival is of great importance and urgency.

Chapter 2: Estimating the population of hooded vultures *Necrosyrtes monachus* in Guinea-Bissau

Abstract: The hooded vulture is an African endemic scavenger whose global conservation status jumped from Least Concern to Critically Endangered in only 6 years, as an echo of dramatic population declines registered continent-wide. It provides important ecosystem services in urban areas in most sub-Saharan countries. Hence, its disappearance has a range of socio-economic, cultural and biodiversity impacts affecting the entire biological system. Few studies have been dedicated to quantify the global population of hooded vultures and Guinea-Bissau is one of the several West African countries that have no data on its populations size. Therefore, arises the need for the development of other more adapted methodologies, which would allow population estimates and long-time monitoring to measure trends in the future. In this work we studied the daily activity patterns of these scavengers in the capital, Bissau, to collect information to refine methodologies for vulture monitoring in the country, and estimate the population size nationwide using alternative methodologies. We conducted daily observations in the centre of Bissau between mid-February and end-April of 2016, using a point-count method. We found that hooded vultures are mostly active between 9:20h and 17:10h. Using two complementary approaches (strip transects using bicycle in the two largest cities, and complete counts by car during low activity periods of vultures), we sampled 21 human settlements of different sizes. We estimated 7,117 and 991 hooded vultures in Bissau and Gabú, respectively. In the other 19 human settlements we counted 1,123 hooded vultures during low activity periods. Using a linear regression between the number of hooded vultures and the number of people in settlements, we predicted the size of the national population to be between 67,872 and 88,287 birds. Our results suggest that Guinea-Bissau could be home to around 35 - 45% of the global population of the species.

Keywords: hooded vultures, Guinea-Bissau, population estimate, strip transects, activity pattern

Introduction

The hooded vulture *Necrosyrtes monachus* is an African endemic scavenger widely distributed across the continent (Ferguson-Lees and Christie 2001 in O'Neal Campbell 2016). It was once described as a common species, in some places the commonest vulture (Brown 1971, in Ogada & Buij 2011), found in a variety of habitats like deserts, coastal lands, grasslands, wooded savannas and forest edges (Anderson 1999 in Ogada & Buij 2011). However, unlike other vultures, it is known to be increasingly more connected to human environments than natural habitats in most (but not all) sub-Saharan countries (Buij et al. 2013b; O'Neal Campbell 2016).

Currently, this species is part of one of today's most endangered group of birds worldwide (Long

2015). Its IUCN Red List conservation status jumped from Least Concern to Critically Endangered in only 6 years, between 2009 and 2015, as an echo of the dramatic population declines registered continent-wide (Ogada & Buij 2011; BirdLife International 2015; Ogada et al. 2015a). In the particular case of the West African region, there have been well substantiated reports of serious declines in all raptors, including hooded vultures, throughout the Sahelian and savanna areas (Rondeau & Thiollay 2004; Thiollay 2006a, 2006b, 2007b).

Despite these indications, in parts of Ghana and the Gambia populations appeared to remain stable, or even increasing (Gbogbo & Awotwe-pratt 2008; Campbell 2009; Ogada & Buij 2011; Barlow 2012). However, more recently, even in Ghana, populations also started suddenly to collapse, with a reported 91% decline between 2011 and 2016 in Accra (Gbogbo et al. 2016). On the other hand, a recent paper reported evidences that the Gambia holds the highest current regional density of hooded vultures, with 12.0 and 17.5 birds per km of transect counted in 2013 and 2015, respectively (Jallow et al. 2016).

Several causes for the declines observed in vulture populations have been pointed out by researchers and conservationists throughout the world (Ogada et al. 2012a). In Africa unintentional poisoning from poisoned baits targeting mammal predators, intentional poisoning from illegal game hunters, intensive use for traditional medicine and sorcery, and hunting for food are the ones with the greatest impact over vultures (Bridgeford 2001; Thiollay 2006a, 2006b, 2006c; Ogada & Buij 2011; Botha et al. 2012; Roxburgh & McDougall 2012; Ogada et al. 2012a, 2015b; Williams et al. 2014; Ogada 2014a, 2014b; Atuo et al. 2015; Buij et al. 2015; Richards & Ogada 2015; Virani 2016).

Vulture's importance on ecological processes in terrestrial ecosystems is complex, but here we highlight two aspects: first, as nature's most successful scavenger, they contribute greatly in the nutrient cycling dynamics by increasing the decomposition rate of carcasses and positively affecting transmission of nutrients to the soil (Parmenter & Macmahon 2009; Ogada et al. 2012b). This has a chain-effect that is important in maintaining biodiversity (Barton et al. 2013). Second, hooded vultures also provide important ecosystem services in urban areas, like the disposal of organic waste, the control (through competition) of facultative mammalian scavengers and disease transmission between them, among many others (Ogada & Buij 2011; Gangoso et al. 2013). Thus, as key-stone species, vulture declines have a range of socio-economic, cultural and biodiversity impacts, mainly on human health, costs to industry, disposal costs to local communities, cultural and religious values and other biodiversity impacts (Markandya et al. 2008; Ogada & Buij 2011; Ogada et al. 2012b).

Roadside counts have been the most widely employed method for census of vultures in West African habitats (Thiollay 2001; Ogada & Keesing 2010; Virani et al. 2011; Ogada et al. 2013, 2016; Pomeroy et al. 2014; Whytock et al. 2014). However, this method not only gives us only a relative measure of abundance, but also it is not the best to sample species with a clustered distribution related to the roads itself, as is the case of the hooded vultures, resulting in biased estimates (Pomeroy et al. 2014). Few studies have been dedicated to quantify the global population of hooded vultures in African countries. Of these, we highlight Pomeroy (1975), Chemonges (1991), Amuno (2001) and Ssemanda (2005), who estimated the population of hooded vultures of Kampala, in Uganda, identifying the roosting and feeding congregations of the species and conducting simultaneous total counts (Pomeroy 1975; Ssemmanda 2005). A similar approach was used later in Accra, Ghana (Gbogbo & Awotwepratt 2008; Roberts 2013; Gbogbo et al. 2016). Using a different approach, Pomeroy et al. (2014) estimated the population of several vulture species in Uganda in relation with land use using Distance Sampling techniques, but they were unable to meet the assumptions of the method for hooded vultures, and their estimates were associated with extremely wide confidence limits (Pomeroy et al. 2014). Finally, in the Gambia, Jallow et al. (2016) estimated the density of hooded vultures in the Western region of the country using a strip transect method (Jallow et al. 2016).

Guinea-Bissau is one of the several countries in West Africa that have insufficient data to measure trends of hooded vulture populations (Ogada & Buij 2011). Moreover, to date there has been no census in any part of the country to try to assess the size of populations of this scavenger or any other vulture. Nonetheless, hooded vultures are not only common in the majority of the country, but are apparently abundant in many places. Being that hooded vultures are currently considered Critically Endangered globally, and several threats have already been identified in other neighbour countries, it is urgent to gather knowledge about population sizes and trends to be able to advocate for its protection and conservation. However, hooded vultures in Guinea-Bissau appear to roost mainly scattered in small-medium groups, and also are quite dispersed all over the urban areas during periods of activity to feed on small dumpsites. This makes the employment of the methods used in Uganda and Ghana very unpractical and highlights the need for the development of other more adapted methodologies, which would allow better population estimates and long-time monitoring to measure trends in the future.

This chapter focus on hooded vultures in Guinea-Bissau, with two main objectives: (1) study the daily activity patterns of these scavengers in the capital, Bissau, to describe the periods in which hooded vultures are more active, and collect information to refine methodologies for vulture monitoring in the country, particularly in densely populated human settlements; and (2) estimate the population size nationwide.

Methods

Study Area

The study was conducted from February to early May 2016. Guinea-Bissau has a humid tropical climate with a bi-seasonal variation resulting in a rainy (from May to October) and a dry (from November to April) season (Ministério de Desenvolvimento Rural e Agricultura n.d.). Human population in 2016 is estimated to be around 1.55 million, with about 42.6% of the population living in urban areas (Instituto Nacional de Estatística 2013). As one of the poorest countries in the world and home to more than 30 ethnic groups, subsistence activities often depend largely on exploiting natural resources and economic activities are rather underdeveloped to this point. We sampled 19 human settlements distributed all over the country, plus two major cities (Fig. 2.1).

Field methods

Daily activity pattern of hooded vultures in an urban centre

Using a point-count method (Thiel 1977; Dunbar 1976 in Dawson et al. 1984) we conducted daily

observations in the centre of Bissau for 3 full days and 2 partial days, during the dry season (April and May of 2016). The site selected met the requirements of easy access, good visibility and no bias due to the presence of congregation factors (no roost or feeding sites). We then counted systematically the number of vultures flying between 7:00 and 19:20, in 10 minute intervals, and over a 360 degrees' angle.

Nationwide population estimate

We sampled 21 human settlements of different sizes, given the strong connection of this species to people. We used two different and complementary sampling methods, according to the type of human settlement:

i. in cities we conducted transect counts using a bicycle, in the early morning and late afternoon, between 7:00 and 8:20 and between 17:30 and 19:20. Transects were previously identified using Google Earth images ("Google Earth" 2016). Sampling design was based on literature recommendations for line and strip transects (Eberhardt 1978; Conner & Dickson 1980; Carrascal et al. 2008). Surveys were conducted by one observer, which counted every hooded vulture seen during transects, recording only perched birds. Perpendicular distances of each bird to the transect line were measured with precision using a laser rangefinder. Distances were measured using as reference buildings or trees over which the birds were perched. Birds that were spotted right before taking off or birds that were flying and landed in sight were registered as well. Notes were taken mostly using a voice recorder, allowing the observer to give full attention to his surroundings. This method was used to sample the two biggest human settlements of the country, Bissau and Gabú (82.9 and 8.7 km² of total area, respectively). In the city of Bissau, we conducted 14 transects along 71.4 km of roads and streets, ranging from 1 to 12 km long (mean = 5.1; SD = \pm 3.2). In the city of Gabú we conducted 3 transects along 16.9 km of roads and streets. Transects were of 2.2 - 9.3 km long (mean = 5.6; $SD = \pm 3.6$).

ii. in villages and towns, we conducted complete counts by car in the early morning and late afternoon, when hooded vultures were largely inactive. This method provided us with a minimum number of the population of vultures in each sampled site. During these counts, we slowly crossed the main roads and pathways through all the settlement and counted all the hooded vultures seen perched or flying. Three to four observers were used, placed in both sides of the car. Using this method, we sampled 5 villages, 13 small towns and 1 larger town (Fig. 2.1).

The city of Gabú was sampled using both methods, providing an opportunity to compare them.

Data analysis

Density estimates with strip transects in towns

Data collected during bicycle transects in the city of Bissau and Gabú was used to estimate the density of hooded vultures (birds per km²) for each one of these cities and extrapolate to obtain the population size in them. We used the perpendicular distances recorded for each sighting to apply the strip transect methodology, in which we assume to spot every bird inside a given distance band. The sampled area is calculated multiplying the strip width by the total length of the transects and then, extrapolate the number of birds for all the area of each of the two cities (Eberhardt 1978; Conner & Dickson 1980; García-del-Rey 2005; Carrascal et al. 2008). To select which strip width to use for the estimation we used data from Bissau to construct a graph with all the density estimates for strip widths of 10, 20, 30, 40, 50, 60, 70, 80, 90 and 100 meters (half of this value on each side of the transect). The most stable area of the graph was selected and the strip width which produced the higher density estimate was chosen to extrapolate for the entire city. The same strip width was then used to also estimate the hooded vulture population in Gabú, based on the transect counts conducted there.

Correction factor for hooded vultures flying during low activity periods

We used the activity pattern counts to calculate a correction factor for birds that are flying during low activity periods (early morning and late afternoon). This correction factor is to be applied to the hooded vulture population estimate in the cities of Bissau and Gabú, since in the strip transect method we only account for perched birds. We calculated the mean of all daily activity point counts between 7:20 and 8:20 (mean = 0.7 birds; SD = \pm 2.9; n = 33) and between 17:30 and 19:20 (mean = 14.6 birds; SD = \pm 16.5; n = 50), which corresponds to the mean of the number of birds flying during those periods. Then, we also



Figure 2.1. Map of the study area, comprised by all of Guinea-Bissau territory. The distribution of 21 human settlements sampled for this study is shown.

calculated the mean of the birds flying during the most active period of the day, between 10:00 and 15:30 (mean = 71.6 birds; $SD = \pm 30.5$; n = 102). The proportion of birds flying during the periods of the transects is given relatively to the mean of the number of birds flying during the most active period (proportion of early morning period = 1%; proportion of late afternoon period = 20.3%, mean = 10.65%). This results in a correction factor of 1.12, calculated from the following formula: Numb. vultures = Numb. vultures perched/(1-Mean proportion of vultures flying during low activity periods).

Complete counts in human settlements during low activity periods

The counts of hooded vultures conducted during the early morning and late afternoon in 19 human settlements were used to compute a linear regression using the log(number of hooded vultures +1), against the number of people in settlements. We then compiled the human population size data from the National Census of 2009 concerning all settlements in Guinea-Bissau and used the regression to predict the size of the population of hooded vultures in each settlement, and finally sum up all the values to estimate the national population. In this process we excluded the cities of Bissau and Gabú, which showed to be outliers in terms of human population size (see results). In order to obtain a confidence interval for the national estimate, we randomly selected an estimate of number of vultures for each settlement, obtained from a normal distribution with mean located at the value predicted by the regression for that settlement size and a standard deviation equal to the corresponding prediction bands. We then summed up all the individual estimates to a new national estimate. This procedure was repeated 1000 times and we calculated the confidence intervals of our original estimate as the 0.025 and 0.975 quantiles of the distribution of the 1000 replicates. To this estimated total number of hooded vultures in the country, we then added the estimations for the cities of Bissau and Gabú, calculated with the method of strip transects.

Results

Daily activity pattern in an urban centre

Counts conducted in a central point in Bissau showed that hooded vultures are mostly active between ca 9:20h and ca 17:10h (Fig. 2.2). The mean number of birds counted in the air during this period was 66.8 ± 33.2 (SD), in 158 counts.



Figure 2.2. Daily activity pattern of hooded vultures in a central point of the city of Bissau. The line represents the mean $(\pm SD)$ of birds flying, counted every 10 minutes for 3 full days (between 07:00 and 19:20), plus 2 half days counts (between 07:30 and 09:30 and between 16:30 and 18:30 local time). Sunrise and sunset exact timings obtain from the mean of the sampling period, data retrieved from http://www.timeanddate.com.

Between 7:00h and 8:20h the mean number of birds flying was less than one (mean = 0.6; SD = ± 2.7 ; n = 39 counts) just has it happened between 18:40h and 19:20h (mean = 0.3; SD = ± 0.7 ; n = 15 counts). Transition periods, during which hooded vultures go from inactive to active and vice-versa, occurred between 8:20h and 9:20h, and between 17:10 and 18:40.

Nationwide population estimate

Density estimates with strip transects in towns

In the city of Bissau, we counted 1,071 birds, of which 828 were perched. In Gabú we counted 340 birds, 200 of them perched. Using the data collected during bicycle transects in the city of Bissau (only for perched birds), we estimate the density of hooded vultures for each band width, as shown in Table 2.1. Graphic representation of the distribution of these density estimates along increasing bandwidths led us to choose the 60-meter band as the best estimate (Estimate 6) (Fig. 2.3). Thus, the density of hooded vultures in the city of Bissau, for the chosen band width is

approximately 77 birds per km², equivalent to a total of 6,354 perched birds, and approximately 7,117 vultures, after applying the correction factor (1.12). Using the same band width for the calculations in city of Gabú, and based on the surveys conducted there, we estimate a density of approximately 102 birds per km², which results in a total abundance estimate of 991 hooded vultures for that city (885 individuals*correction factor). This compares with a minimum of 548 individuals recorded during an early morning survey covering a significant portion of the entire city, including the city's biggest slaughterhouse.

Complete counts in human settlements during low activity periods

We counted a total of 1,123 hooded vultures in 19 human settlements during low activity periods, with values ranging from 0 to 201. At only one settlement we counted 0 vultures. There are 4,424 human settlements in the country (mainland and Bijagós archipelago included) (Instituto Nacional de Estatística 2009), and the number of hooded vultures in each one of them could be predicted

Table 2.1. Results of the estimates of density and abundance of hooded vultures in the city of Bissau, using different total band widths (left plus right side of the transects) to produce several estimated densities. Estimate 6, highlighted in grey, represents the best Estimate, with a reasonable sampling area while remaining realistic as to the assumptions of the method (100% detectability up to 30 meters of each side of the transect line).

City	Estimate	Band width (m)	Sampled area (% of city area)	n (birds)	Estimated N	Estimated Density (birds/km ²)
	Estimate 1	10	0.86	16	1860	22.4
	Estimate 2	20	1.72	52	3022	36.4
Bissau	Estimate 3	30	2.58	129	4998	60.3
	Estimate 4	40	3.44	211	6131	73.9
	Estimate 5	50	4.30	252	5858	70.6
	Estimate 6	60	5.16	328	6354	76.6
	Estimate 7	70	6.02	329	5463	65.9
	Estimate 8	80	6.88	346	5027	60.6
	Estimate 9	90	7.74	351	4533	54.7
	Estimate 10	100	8.60	373	4335	52.3



Figure 2.3. Representation of estimated densities of hooded vultures in Bissau, based on several different strip widths and sampling areas. Density values for band widths of 40, 50 and 60 meters (3.4%, 4.3% and 5.2% of the area of the city sampled, respectively) remains relatively stable.



Figure 2.4. Number of hooded vultures in relation to the size of the settlements in Guinea-Bissau (note the log scales in both axes). Sampled human settlements are represented as red points. Data used to compute the regression are represented inside the dotted rectangle. The cities of Bissau and Gabú were not included in the regression, but are plotted to show that they follow the same trend represented by the regression line.

from the number of people by the following formula: log(Numb. hooded vultures + 1) =2.7119542 + 0.0002286*Population size,Adjusted $R^2 = 0.189$, p = 0.036 (Fig. 2.4). Using this equation, we estimate that the number of hooded vultures in Guinea-Bissau, excluding Bissau and Gabú is 67,885 birds (quantile 2.5% = 59,764, quantile 97.5% = 80,179).

Adding the results from Bissau and Gabú to the above estimate we obtain a total of 75,993 hooded vultures in all of Guinea-Bissau territory (confidence interval = 67,872 - 88,287 birds).

Discussion

Daily activity pattern in an urban centre

Results from the daily activity pattern study indicate that to count hooded vultures using road survey methods (Thiollay 2006b, 2006c; Ogada & Keesing 2010; Virani et al. 2011; Pomeroy et al. 2014; Jallow et al. 2016) in Guinea-Bissau it is important to start the survey not earlier than 10:00h and end it not after 17:00h. If the focus is to try to deliver absolute estimates of population sizes from strip transects counting perched vultures, then surveys must be conducted between 7:00h and 8:20h and between 18:40h and 19:20h, when few birds fly.

Estimating the population size of hooded vultures: an alternative

Population size estimates of hooded vultures based on systematic work are rare. Only in Uganda, Tanzania, Mozambique, Ghana and in the Gambia there have been attempts (some very incomplete) to estimate the number of individuals (Ssemmanda 2005; Ogada & Buij 2011; Pomeroy et al. 2014; Gbogbo et al. 2016; Jallow et al. 2016). In the case of our study area, replicating these methods (i.e., counting roosts) would have not been adequate for several reasons: (1) hooded vultures there tend to roost scattered in many small groups all over the settlements, (2) birds in roost are difficult to spot in the canopy, and (3) hooded vultures in the country have been observed entering roosts when there is almost no light.

In our study we used two complementary methods to survey vultures to obtain a nationwide

estimate. The strip transect method was used in urban centres that were too large to sample by onetime total counts. We used a bicycle for this method because it presented several advantages, namely high detection capacity, allowed to cover large areas, freedom of movements with no traffic constraints, and low cost transportation. Strip transects are a popular method to estimate densities of birds that are easy to spot (Eberhardt 1978; Conner & Dickson 1980) and it has been used in certain species of passerines and raptors (Eberhardt 1978; Andersen et al. 1985; Carrascal et al. 2008; Jallow et al. 2016). It has the advantages of covering a considerable area per unit of transect, allows the estimation of the number of birds, it is highly repeatable, and replicated transects of the same area can be compared through time (Conner & Dickson 1980). The bandwidth of 60 meters wide (30 meters on each side of the road) chosen from the transects conducted in Bissau, is a reasonable choice since hooded vultures are fairly easy to spot in urban environments while it also provides a good coverage area. Narrower strip transects over represent street areas with few perches between buildings (hence the lower densities in narrower strips) and broader strips likely result in lower densities because of visibility problems beyond the first row of buildings and trees on each side of a street. There are very few tall buildings in Guinea-Bissau, which also allows good visibility up to fairly long distances and therefore it is quite unlikely to miss vultures within a 30m range on each side, but nevertheless a strip count potentially always slightly underestimates densities. For these reasons, and because other methods employed elsewhere are inadequate, we believe that strip transects using bicycle is an effective and low cost alternative to estimate the population of hooded vultures in larger urban centres.

For smaller human settlements, we used complete counts during low activity periods, to obtain a minimum count of the number of roosting hooded vultures. Here roosting trees are smaller and have few leaves in the dry season, and areas to cover while vultures are still perched are much smaller. Since there are no known roosts outside human settlements in Guinea-Bissau, by sampling several settlements with varied sizes and characteristics (i.e., with and without markets, along the coast or inland, with and without fish ports), we modelled and predicted the expected number of vultures for all the country. In Guinea-Bissau, like elsewhere in West Africa (Rondeau & Thiollay 2004; Thiollay 2006b, 2007b; Ogada & Buij 2011), hooded vultures are mostly found in human settlements and very few can typically be seen living on natural habitats. With the combination of these two methods to estimate vultures in human settlements, we believe that we deliver a valid estimation of the number of hooded vultures in the country and we suggest that this approach could be tested in other countries.

In Gabú, we conducted both strip transects and complete counts during low activity periods, which produced different results (991 and 548 birds, respectively). The broad similarity in the results obtained by two completely different and independent methods gives a certain confidence in the approaches used in this study, although the results suggest that complete counts in human settlements as big as Gabú will probably underestimate the population size more markedly than the strip transect approach. More exercises to validate the methodologies would ideally be carried out, but there are few settlements in Guinea-Bissau where both approaches can be used effectively.

Guinea-Bissau: a stronghold for hooded vultures?

Mundy *et al.* (1992) guess-estimated the global population of hooded vultures to be between 200,000 – 330,000 birds. From that estimate, Ogada *et al.* (2011) subtracted the decline rates from several countries and suggested that the population did not exceeded 197,000 birds by 2011 (Ogada & Buij 2011). These last numbers may be underestimated, since it seems to reflect more strongly the declines reported for several countries and overlook other areas, like the Gambia and Guinea-Bissau, where no information was available. Nevertheless, based on this last estimate, our results suggest that Guinea-Bissau could be home to around 35 - 45% of the global population of the species. This reinforces the

indications of the importance of this region for the species recently reported by Jallow et al. (2016), that estimated between 7,000 - 10,500 hooded vultures in the Western coast of the Gambia (Jallow et al. 2016). In neighbouring Guinea-Conakry, several reports pointed hooded vultures as common in the Eastern part of the country and in large human settlements during the 1980s and the 1990s (Ogada & Buij 2011). More recent surveys (2008) reported that healthy vulture populations were still present in that country (Rondeau et al. 2008). In other countries around this area, namely Mali, Burkina-Faso, Sierra Leone and Ivory Coast, hooded vultures were also described as common until the early 2000s, but since then dramatic declines have been reported in all, where populations have now much smaller densities than the ones reported here for Guinea-Bissau and reported for the Gambia (Rondeau & Thiollay 2004; Thiollay 2006b, 2006c; Ogada & Buij 2011; Jallow et al. 2016).

Our estimate of the number of hooded vultures of between 67,872 and 88,287 birds is the only one yet delivered for the country, and one of the few for all the range of the species. We believe it to potentially be realistic since in the two and a half months we spent in the field for this study (including all the time spent on trips between sampling sites) we saw 7,055 hooded vultures, equivalent to about 9.3% of our estimate. We felt that there were hooded vultures in almost every settlement we went. Exceptions were national parks in the Southeast and more forested areas (with less density of people), where in fact there were few vultures overall.

Monitoring, conservation and environmental education: a recipe to save vultures

Hooded vulture populations collapsed by a roughly estimated 83% in the last 27-39 years in East and West Africa (Ogada et al. 2015a). However, declines were uneven in West Africa and may not have happened throughout the entire range (Rondeau & Thiollay 2004; Thiollay 2006b). These data were derived mainly from Sahelian and savannah areas and it has been

suggested that it may not be the same in more forested regions, where populations appear to be more robust (Ogada & Buij 2011). That seems to be the case for Guinea-Bissau, where several of the decline causes reported for other West African countries appear, at a first glance, to have much lower prevalence, as it has been suggested also for the Gambia (Jallow et al. 2016). For instance, killing for food was reported as the cause for local extinctions of hooded vultures in Nigeria and Ivory Coast but in Guinea-Bissau almost no reports of these events has been collected during field work. Intentional poisoning also seems to have little expression, since there is no reserves full of game that attracts illegal hunters and ivory poachers, as it happens in Kenya, Namibia and (Bridgeford 2001; Roxburgh Zambia & McDougall 2012; Ogada 2014b; Ogada et al. 2015b). Also agro-pastoral industries are still quite underdeveloped in the country and there is little evidence of the use of chemicals and/or drugs (such as diclofenac) that could cause harm to vultures, unlike elsewhere (Van Wyk et al. 2001; Anderson et al. 2005; Taggart et al. 2007; Ogada 2014a).

On the other hand, hooded vultures are not free of threats in Guinea-Bissau. We collected several reports during our field trips, that consistently suggested that the use of hooded vultures for traditional medicine and body parts for sorcery was a growing market in the country, mainly because of influences from visitors from other countries of West Africa. Likewise, unintentional poisoning appears to be a reality in some parts of the country that may be causing the extirpation of vultures in those areas. Thus arises the necessity of gathering more knowledge on the prevalence of such threats in the country and conduct environmental education in key-areas where vulture survival may be at stake. The fact that vultures provide such an important service to humans may be used as a tool to convince people of the necessity for their conservation. The development and implementation of a monitoring program in the country is also essential to screen trends populations and allow timely in interventions when and where needed.

Chapter 3: Population estimate and observations on seasonal movements of the palm-nut vulture *Gypohierax angolensis* in the João Vieira and Poilão Marine National Park, Guinea-Bissau

Abstract: The palm-nut vulture is a unique member of the Old World vultures, having an extremely opportunistic and varied diet, different foraging behaviour and closely related to palm forests and wetlands. It is widely distributed across the tropical Africa and in Guinea-Bissau it is common in the Bijagós archipelago. Palm-nut vultures have been observed in large numbers in the João Vieira and Poilão Marine National Park (JVPMNP), one of the 3 marine protected areas of that archipelago. In this study we assess the abundance of palm-nut vultures in the JVPMNP, to evaluate the importance of this protected area in a national and regional scale. We also investigate the seasonal variation in the number of immatures in the main islands and islets during the dry and rainy seasons, and discuss possible reasons of such variations. We conducted transect counts in 2015 along the beach to survey palm-nut vultures in the four islands of the park, averaging $265 (SD = \pm 9.8, n = 5)$ birds during the dry season and $305 (SD = \pm 38.9, n = 10)$ during the rainy season. The island with the highest numbers during both seasons was João Vieira. Encounter rates (number of birds per km) for all the JVPMNP totalled 8 birds/km in 36.2 km, with Poilão presenting the highest score (16.3 birds/km). Poilão also presented the largest variation in the number of immatures between dry and rainy seasons (from 5 to 23 birds). Meio also showed an important variation (11.4% increment). Poilão presented 5 times more palm-nut vultures during the rainy season. We discuss reasons for these fluctuations in populations. Based in our experience, we guess-estimate between 355 and 525 palm-nut vultures in all the JVPMNP. This study provided solid evidences for the national and regional importance of the population of palmnut vultures in that protected area.

Keywords: Palm-nut vulture, Bijagós archipelago, João Vieira and Poilão Marine National Park, abundance, seasonality.

Introduction

The palm-nut vulture *Gypohierax angolensis* is considered to represent the transition from vultures to fish eagles (Brown and Amadon 1968 in Arshad et al. 2009). It is phylogenetically closer to Egyptian (*Neophron percnopterus*) and bearded (*Gypaetus barbatus*) vultures, being included with these in the Gypaetinae subfamily (Mundy 1992; Lerner & Mindell 2005; O'Neal Campbell 2016). Palm-nut vulture populations are distributed over a wide range in tropical Africa, being present throughout West and Central Africa, where the species is common and abundant, and as far South as Northeast South Africa, where is rarer (Mundy 1992; BirdLife International 2016b; O'Neal Campbell 2016). It is one of the few Old World vultures that is not considered endangered and populations are believed to be stable in most of its distribution (BirdLife International 2016b; IUCN 2016).

This species is ecologically distinct from any other vulture in several aspects: first, it is mainly connected to dense forests and tree savannahs, usually near water and often with oil and raffia palms (Mundy 1992; O'Neal Campbell 2016). Second, they are very opportunistic and their diet includes a wide range of items, like fruits of the palm tree *Elaes guineensis*, fruits and grains of other plants, fish, small mammals, birds, reptiles, invertebrates and amphibians, and can also scavenge on carcasses (Brown 1982; Mundy 1992; Butchart 1995; Catry et al. 2010; O'Neal Campbell 2016). Palm-nut vultures build large nests in tall trees and breeding season in West Africa is reported to begin in October and end around May (Mundy 1992; Ferguson-Lees and Christie 2001 in O'Neal Campbell 2016).

In Guinea-Bissau, palm-nut vultures are known to be strongly associated to palm oil forests in humid coastal areas, as reported elsewhere (Ferguson-Lees and Christie 2001 in O'Neal Campbell 2016). In the Bijagós archipelago this species is well established in almost every island and is overall common and abundant. Nonetheless, there is almost no quantitative information on the status of this species in the country (but see Mendes et al. 1998). Palm-nut vultures have been observed in large numbers in the João Vieira and Poilão Marine National Park (JVPMNP), one of the 3 marine protected areas of the Bijagós archipelago, and an important biodiversity stronghold for many species (Ministério de Desenvolvimento Rural Agricultura n.d.; Clemmons 2003; Instituto da Biodiversidade e das Áreas Protegidas 2008, 2014; Catry et al. 2010; Lopes 2015). Given the large availability of suitable habitat for palm-nut vultures in the Bijagós archipelago, and particularly in the JVPMNP, this study aims to obtain estimates of the population of this species, in order to confirm the importance of this area for these vultures, and gather baseline data for future monitoring. We also investigate the occurrence of seasonal variation in the number of adults and immatures in the main islands and islets during the dry and rainy seasons, and discuss possible reasons of such variations.

Methods

Study Area

The Bijagós archipelago is a group of 88 islands and islets situated off the coast of the Republic of Guinea-Bissau (Figure 3.1). The archipelago was constituted Reserve of the Biosphere by the UNESCO, reflecting its exceptional natural value



Figure 3.1. Map of the study area.

and importance for biodiversity (INEP 2006). It is also constituted by 3 Marine Protected Areas, one of which is the João Vieira and Poilão Marine National Park. The JVPMNP is located at the extreme Southeast of the Bijagós Archipelago. It is constituted by 4 main small islands and islets, namely Cavalos, João Vieira, Meio, and Poilão (Figure 3.1). The total surface of the protected area is around 495 km², of which 95% are comprised by intertidal and shallow marine-aquatic areas. The inland vegetation cover is dominated by dry forests, natural palm forests and patches of grassland savannah (Instituto da Biodiversidade e das Áreas Protegidas 2008). There are several relevant species for conservation in the protected area, of which we highlight the globally threatened green turtles, which have the third biggest breeding colony of the Atlantic Ocean in the islet of Poilão (Catry et al. 2010; Instituto da Biodiversidade e das Áreas Protegidas 2014). The four main islands of the JVPMNP are considered sacred by the communities of the island of Canhabaque, to whom they traditionally belong, and are not permanently inhabited. These villagers usually organize regular campaigns and travel from Canhabaque to these islands seasonally to fish, explore palm trees and to perform temporary and shifting upland rice plantations (Instituto da Biodiversidade e das Áreas Protegidas 2008, 2014).

Field Methods

To conduct the survey of the palm-nut vultures we used transect counts along the beach (from here on referred to as beach counts) in the four areas of JVPMNP (Figure 3.1). These counts were led by 1 or 2 observers, which walked through the beach rapidly to avoid double counting, and counted all birds seen perched or flying. Fully grown adults were differentiated from immature birds when possible, using the plumage pattern, with the aid of binoculars if necessary. Given that palm-nut vultures daily activity pattern is ruled, to an extent, by the tide, which is connected to food availability, we conducted the counts from receding half-tide to increasing half-tide, when birds are out to feed. On Poilão islet, in some periods of the year there is also variation in daily activity patterns depending on the type of food available. This islet holds verv high concentrations of green turtles nesting during the rainy season, and palm-nut vultures feeding on green turtle hatchlings tend to be more active at early morning and very late afternoon, when there are more green turtle hatchlings crossing the beach and trying to reach the sea (Catry et al. 2010). In the case of this specific islet and period of the year, we conducted counts very early in the morning, during receding half-tides. We carried out several counts on all of the 4 main islands during the year of 2015, as follows: 3 counts on the island of Cavalos (2 during dry season and 1 during the rainy season), 3 on the island of João Vieira (1 during dry season and 2 during rainy season), 2 on the island of Meio (one during each season), and 6 on the islet of Poilão (one during dry season and 5 during rainy season).

Data analysis

Total abundance and encounter rates

To calculate a minimum number of palm-nut vultures in the JVPMNP, we used all the counts conducted during the year of 2015. We calculated the mean of the number of birds recorded in each island during the dry and rainy seasons separately. Then we summed up the means for each island for dry and rainy seasons. Incertitude is measured as Standard Deviations (SD), calculated from the global estimates of each island (n=4). We calculated encounter rates as an abundance index, dividing the total abundance of palm-nut vultures by the total number of kilometres of transects conducted in each island, for all the counts.

Spatial and seasonal variation in abundance

We compared the abundance of palm-nut vultures in each island between dry and rainy seasons to understand the spatial dynamic of the population in relation to seasonality, inside the protected area. To do so, we used the same database used for the total abundance estimate, with means of the counts for each island and in each season.

Results

Total abundance and encounter rates

Using data from counts conducted in 2015 in the JVPMNP, we obtained a minimum average number of palm-nut vultures of around 265±9.8 birds during the dry season and 305±38.9 birds during the rainy season (Section IV of the Supplementary Materials). The island with the highest results during both seasons was João Vieira. From our experience in the study area, we estimate that there may be between 355 and 525 birds in all the JVPMNP. This is an informed guess-estimate, based on observations on each island at the time of counts and the assumption (varying across islands) that roughly between 25 and 50% of the vultures were not visible on the beach at the time of surveys.

We calculated an encounter rate of approximately 8 birds per km (total distance walked 36.2 km) in all the protected area (Table 3.1). Poilão presented the highest value.

 Table 3.1. Encounter rates, calculated from counts conducted in JVPMNP during 2015.

Island	Encounter rates (Birds per km)	Transect length (km)	Number of counts
Cavalos	6.3	6.48	3
João Vieira	10.5	12.76	3
Meio	4.9	13.79	2
Poilão	16.3	3.19	6
JVPMNP	8.1	36.22	14

Spatial and seasonal variation of the population

João Vieira and Poilão islands are the ones with the highest variation in the number of birds, between dry and rainy seasons. Meio and Poilão present the largest variation in the number of immatures (Figure 3.2, see also Section IV of the Supplementary Materials).



Figure 3.2. Seasonal variation in the abundance of palm-nut vultures in four islands of the JVPMNP, in the dry and rainy seasons of 2015.

Discussion

Total abundance estimates and encounter rates

Encounter rates obtained in this study from beach counts enable some preliminary comparatives with data from the study of Mendes et al. (1998) and also with other countries, although in this last case methods may differ and, for that reason, interpretation is limited. The only known study on vultures in Guinea-Bissau palm-nut was conducted in the Orango National Park (ONP), also in Bijagós archipelago. In that study, the authors counted palm-nut vultures using boat transects along the coast and in-between the islands and obtained encounter rates of 1.72 birds/km. By extrapolating for the all ONP, they estimated a total number of 475 birds (Mendes et al. 1998), which is similar to our guess-estimate. In Guinea-Conakry, road surveys counted 1.2 palm-nut vultures per 100 km in natural and crop areas, being classified has an uncommon species (Rondeau et al. 2008). In the Central African Republic, surveys conducted by vantage points, opportunistic sightings and transects by foot reported palm-nut vultures as a common species (25 sightings per day in a 5-week period) both inside and outside natural parks (Keys et al. 2012). In Uganda, road surveys reported 0.5 birds/100 km in natural areas (Pomeroy et al. 2014). Nevertheless, it is clear that palm-nut vultures are common and abundant in a wide area of the tropical Africa (BirdLife International 2016b). In Mundy et al. (1992) there are reports of information received from other observers, like Rob Jeffrey, that reported very high abundances of palm-nut vultures of 47 birds/km along Central Cubal River, in Western Angola, which are the highest ever reported to date. Mundy et al. (1992) also reports on Pakenham one count of 40 birds in 1 km radius on Pemba island and states that similar densities could be found in the Casamance, in the Southern border of the Senegal with Guinea-Bissau. However, the only true density figure was that provided by J. M. Thiollay of five breeding pairs per 10 km² in an abundant wild oil palm area in Ivory Coast, while road surveys by the same observer along his trip through part of West Africa averaged 10.2 birds/100 km, with the highest count being 13.4 birds/100 km in 3,208 km transect in Ivory Coast (Mundy 1992). These numbers show that the JVPMNP holds an important population of these vultures in the frame of these comparatives, which reinforces what is already suggested by our total abundance estimates.

Spatial and seasonal variation of the population

There is little variation in the maximum number of palm-nut vultures counted in each island between dry and rainy seasons, with the clear exception of Poilão, where there is a five-fold increase in numbers from one season to the other. Given that marine turtle hatchlings are an important food source for palm-nut vultures during the rainy season in the JVPMNP (Catry et al. 2010), it is evident that the increase in the numbers of palmnut vultures in Poilão are directly related to the hatching period of marine turtle nestlings. This was already suggested by Catry et al. (2010). The increase in the mean number of birds counted between dry and rainy seasons from 265 to 305 birds for all the park can be due mostly to the input of birds from other islands of the Bijagós archipelago, given that the archipelago is not very large and migration inter-islands in search of food may occur in this species (O'Neal Campbell 2016). However, it is unclear the importance of this factor in the population dynamics of palm-nut vultures.

When analysing the proportion of immature birds in the maximum total counts between March (dry season) and September (rainy season) of 2015 (Fig. 3.2), we found that variations are not consistent between islands. Poilão presented the largest variation, with an increase on the number of immatures from dry to rainy season (from 5 to 23 birds). The island of Meio also showed an important percentage variation (11.4% increment). Cavalos and João Vieira, however, do not seem to present the same pattern. Therefore, no conclusions can be drawn from these results.

This study provided solid evidences for the importance of the population of palm-nut vultures resident in the JVPMNP. We believe this may be the one of the most important areas for these vultures in all Guinea-Bissau and perhaps one of the most important in a wide range of West Africa, as these vultures have plenty of resources there, face no predation and are not persecuted by humans for any reason. Nonetheless, habitat destruction from seasonal upland rice plantations and nest perturbation from people exploring palm trees are threats that occur with unknown impact. For this reason, we suggest that more studies should be conducted about palm-nut vultures in the JVPMNP, especially on breeding and feeding ecology, in order to better assess the drivers of this high abundance and potential threats. Other parts in the Bijagós archipelago are also quite under researched and we suggest that a wider approach could be employed to study this species demography in all the archipelago and the pattern of possible inter-island migrations.

Final Considerations

In the context of the "vulture crisis" in the African continent, it is very important to gather as much knowledge as possible in every country within the range of distribution of vulture species. This study provides the first information on vulture populations in Guinea-Bissau, which appears to be important in the framework of vulture conservation in West Africa. National population estimates are crucial to assess the current status of species, to identify important areas for the conservation, to support the development of conservation strategies and for future monitoring. It is noteworthy other positive impacts that may have been generated by this study, as part of a broader conservation project. This project was implemented with the cooperation of national biologists and nature wardens and with the involvement of the National Institute for Biodiversity and Protected Areas (IBAP), which provided opportunities to train national staff in a range of field techniques and establish important connections with this institution. This can be crucial to implement future monitoring and conservation actions in the country.

The abundance and distribution of the vulture species in the country is clearly affected by humans, which means that human activities will play a very important role in the survival of these populations in the future. Although in other countries of Africa vultures are becoming extinct from the impact of all the threats reported in all the continent, it appears that in Guinea-Bissau these threats still occur in a smaller scale and in restricted areas, so far. This provides an opportunity to intervene while is still possible to control the situation. Henceforth, we recommend using the data gathered by this study to tackle strategic areas with а well-conceived environmental education program directed to the relevant stakeholders. As important ecosystem providers in Guinea-Bissau, we suggest that vultures should be nominated as priority species in the country by the conservation organizations, both national and international.

The relevance of filling knowledge gaps as the one existing for Guinea-Bissau prior to this study,

is demonstrated by the estimate of the population of hooded and palm-nut vultures delivered in the second and third chapters of this work, Gathering accurate population respectively. estimates is fundamental as part of conservation efforts (Murn & Botha 2016) and this study makes an important contribution for that matter, especially in what concerns hooded vultures. The methods we propose for the estimation of the population size of this species (i.e. strip transects and counts during periods of low activity of vultures) can also be important when it comes to the design of conservation plans, which often include numerical population objectives. For instance, to classify a site as an Important Bird Area (IBA), numerical estimates are one of the criteria used (BirdLife International 2016c).

Given the results obtained here, it is even more clear that vulture populations in Guinea-Bissau are relevant on a global scale and further research is needed in order increase the knowledge on their ecology, the pattern of movements (e.g. foraging, post-breeding dispersal) and the threats that they are currently facing. This study must be regarded as an important basis for future studies in the country, but not as a definitive assessment for vultures. The fact that vultures have a large territory which they can explore and know no boundaries, calls for the importance of conjoint actions between the countries of West Africa. Not only every country must assume their responsibility to protect vulture populations within their boundaries, but coordinated action is needed in order to establish coherent, solid and effective conservation measures to save vultures from extinction. In this line of thought, a continental approach is already in preparation since the African Vulture Summit of 2012, and a second Summit is going to take place in 2016 (Botha et al. 2012). In this meeting, a continental action plan for vultures is going to take form, which will be an important tool. Collaboration between research teams is also important to standardize methodologies for vulture monitoring and population estimates in each area.

References⁹

- Andersen DE, Rongstad OJ, Mytton WR. 1985. Line transect analysis of raptor abundance along roads. Wildlife Society Bulletin **13**:533–539.
- Anderson MD. 2007. Vulture crises in South Asia and West Africa ... and monitoring, or the lack thereof, in Africa. Ostrich **78**:415–416.
- Anderson MD, Piper SE, Swan GE. 2005. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug use in South Africa and possible effects on vultures. South African Journal of Science **101**:112–114.
- Annorbah NND, Holbech LH. 2012. Relative abundance, agonistic behaviour, and resource partitioning among three scavenging bird species in Ghana. Malimbus **34**:1–8.
- Arshad M, Gonzalez J, El-Sayed AA, Osborne T, Wink M. 2009. Phylogeny and phylogeography of critically endangered Gyps species based on nuclear and mitochondrial markers. Journal of Ornithology **150**:419–430.
- Askew N. 2014. Vultures in Africa and Europe could face extinction within our lifetime warn conservationists. Available from http://www.birdlife.org/worldwide/news/vul tures-africa-and-europe-could-faceextinction-within-our-lifetime-warn (accessed September 25, 2016).
- Atuo FA, Timothy J. O, Peter U. A. 2015. An assessment of socio-economic drivers of avian body parts trade in West African rainforests. Biological Conservation 191:614–622.
- Barlow CR. 2012. An investigation commences to establish the present status and distribution of hooded Vulture Necrosyrtes monachus in The Gambia , West Africa : February 2012 Guest Editorial. Vulture News **62**:51–56.
- Barlow CR, Fulford T. 2013. Road counts of hooded Vultures Necrosyrtes monachus over seven months in and around Banjul, coastal Gambia, in 2005. Malimbus **35**:50–56.

- Barton PS, Cunningham SA, Lindenmayer DB, Manning AD. 2013. The role of carrion in maintaining biodiversity and ecological processes in terrestrial ecosystems. Oecologia **171**:761–772.
- Bird DM, Bildstein KL. 2007. Raptor Research and Management Techniques. Page (Bird DM, Bildstein KL, editors) Cell CycleFirst. HANCOCK HOUSE PUBLISHERS LTD., Washington D.C.
- BirdLife International. 2015. Necrosyrtes monachus (hooded Vulture). Available from http://www.iucnredlist.org/details/22695185 /0 (accessed September 8, 2016).
- BirdLife International. 2016a. Species factsheet: Milvus migrans. Available from http://www.birdlife.org/datazone/speciesfac tsheet.php?id=32423 (accessed September 22, 2016).
- BirdLife International. 2016b. Species factsheet: Gypohierax angolensis. Available from http://www.birdlife.org/datazone/species/fa ctsheet/22695170 (accessed September 28, 2016).
- BirdLife International. 2016c. Global IBA Criteria- BirdLife INternational Data Zone. Available from http://www.birdlife.org/datazone/info/ibacri tglob (accessed September 14, 2016).
- Blondel J, Ferry C, Frochot B. 1981. Point Counts with unlimited Distance. Pages 414–420in
 C. J. Ralph and J. M. Scott, editors.Estimating numbers of terrestrial birds. Cooper Ornithological Society.
- Borrow N, Demey R. 2014. Birds of West Africa. Page (Borrow N, Demey R, editors)Second Edi. Princeton University Press.
- Boshoff A, Boshoff M. 2007. Vultures, crows and carrion. Vulture News **57**:68–69.
- Botha A, Ogada DL, Virani MZ. 2012. Proceedings of the Pan-African Vulture Summit 2012. Pages 1–47in A. Botha, D. L. Ogada, and M. Z. Virani, editors.Pan-African Vulture Summit. Masai Mara.

⁹ Following the citation rules of Conservation Biology

- Bridgeford P. 2001. More vulture deaths in Namibia. Vulture News **44**:22–26.
- Brown CJ. 1982. The palm-nut vulture in Maputaland. African Wildlife **36**:140–141.
- Buechley ER, Şekercioğlu ÇH. 2016. The avian scavenger crisis: Looming extinctions, trophic cascades, and loss of critical ecosystem functions. Biological Conservation **198**:220–228.
- Buij R, Croes BM, Gort G, Komdeur J. 2013a. The role of breeding range, diet, mobility and body size in associations of raptor communities and land-use in a West African savanna. Biological Conservation **166**:231– 246.
- Buij R, Croes BM, Komdeur J. 2013b.
 Biogeographical and anthropogenic determinants of landscape-scale patterns of raptors in West African savannas.
 Biodiversity and Conservation 22:1623–1646.
- Buij R, Nikolaus G, Whytock R, Ingram DJ, Ogada D. 2015. Trade of threatened vultures and other raptors for fetish and bushmeat in West and Central Africa. Oryx:1–11.
- Butchart D. 1995. Some observations on the palmnut Vulture in Gabon, Central Africa. Vulture News **32**:19–22.
- Campbell M. 2009. Factors for the presence of avian scavengers in Accra and Kumasi, Ghana. Area **41**:341–349.
- Carrascal LM, Seoane J, Palomino D. 2008. Bias in density estimations using strip transects in dry open-country environments in the Canary Islands. Animal Biodiversity and Conservation **31**:45–50.
- Catry P, Barbosa C, Indjai B. 2010. Tartarugas Marinhas da Guiné-Bissau. Page (Catry P, Barbosa C, Indjai B, editors). Instituto da Biodiversidade e Áreas Protegidas - Guiné-Bissau, Bissau.
- Chung O et al. 2015. The first whole genome and transcriptome of the cinereous vulture reveals adaptation in the gastric and immune defense systems and possible convergent evolution between the Old and New World vultures. Genome Biology **16**:215. Genome Biology.

- Clemmons JR. 2003. Status Survey of the African Grey Parrot (Psittacus eritachus timneh) and Development of a Managment Program in Guinea-Bissau. Geneva.
- Conner RN, Dickson JG. 1980. Strip transect sampling and analysis for avian habitat studies. Wildlife Society Bulletin 8:4–10.
- Cyr A, Lepage D, Freemark K. 1995. Evaluating Point Count Efficiency Relative to Territory Mapping in Cropland Birds. USDA Forest Service Gen. Tech. Rep:63–67. Available from census.
- Dawson TJ, Read D, Russell EM, Herd RM. 1984. Seasonal Variation in Daily Activity Patterns, Water Relations and Diet of Emus. EMU **84**:93–102.
- DGA, DGP. 2013. Guiné-Bissau Recenseamento Nacional do Gado na Guiné-Bissau. Bissau.
- Direcção Geral da Pecuária. 2010. Lettre Politique du Developpement de l'Elevage de la Guinée-Bissau. Bissau.
- Dodman T, Barlow C, Sá J, Robertson P. 2004. Important Bird Areas in Guinea-Bissau. Wetlands International, Bissau.
- Eberhardt LL. 1978. Transect methods for population studies. The Journal of Wildlife Management **42**:1–31.
- Gangoso L, Agudo R, Anadón JD, De la Riva M, Suleyman AS, Porter R, Donázar JA. 2013. Reinventing mutualism between humans and wild fauna: Insights from vultures as ecosystem services providers. Conservation Letters **6**:172–179.
- García-del-Rey E. 2005. Density estimates of passerine bird species in Tenerifean coastal scrub using two different methods (Canary Islands). VIERAEA **33**:193–200.
- Gbogbo F, Awotwe-pratt V. 2008. Waste management and hooded Vultures on the Legon Campus of the University of Ghana in Accra, Ghana, West Africa. Vulture News 58:16–22.
- Gbogbo F, Roberts JST, Awotwe-pratt V. 2016. Some Important Observations on the Populations of hooded Vultures Necrosyrtes monachus in Urban Ghana. International Journal of Zoology **2016**.

Google Earth. 2016. Google.

- Green RE, Newton I, Shultz S, Cunningham AA, Gilbert M, Pain DJ, Prakash V. 2004. Diclofenac poisoning as a cause of vulture population declines across the Indian subcontinent. Journal of Applied Ecology 41:793–800.
- Herremans M, Herremans-Tonnoeyr D. 2000. Land use and the conservation status of raptors in Botswana. Biological Conservation **94**:31–41.
- Hijmans RJ, Cameron SE, Parra JL, Jones PG, Jarvis A. 2005. Very high resolution interpolated climate surfaces for global land areas. International Journal of Climatology 25:1965–1978.
- Houston DC. 1974a. Food searching in Griffon vultures. African Journal of Ecology **12**:63–77.
- Houston DC. 1974b. The role of griffon vultures Gyps africanus and Gyps ruppellii as scavengers. Journal of Zoology **172**:35–46.
- Houston DC. 1985. Evolutionary Ecology of Afrotropical and Neotropical Vultures in Forests. Ornithological Monographs **Neotropica**:856–864.
- Houston DC, Cooper JE. 1975. The digestive tract of the Whiteback griffon vulture and its role in disease transmission among wild ungulates. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 11:306–313.
- Hunter JS, Durant SM, Caro TM. 2007. Patterns of scavenger arrival at cheetah kills in Serengeti National Park Tanzania. African Journal of Ecology **45**:275–281.
- Hutto RL, Pletschet SM, Hendricks P. 1986. A fixed-radius point count method for nonbreeding and breeding season use. Au **103**:593–602.
- INEP. 2006. Plano de Gestão da Reserva da Biosfera do Arquipélago Bolama/Bijagós. Bissau.
- Instituto da Biodiversidade e das Áreas Protegidas. 2008. Plano de Gestão do Parque Nacional Marinho João Vieira e Poilão. Instituto da Biodiversidade e das Áreas Protegidas, Bissau.

- Instituto da Biodiversidade e das Áreas Protegidas. 2014. Estratégia Nacional para as Áreas Protegidas e a Conservação da Biodiversidade na Guiné-Bissau 2014 -2020. Instituto da Biodiversidade e das Áreas Protegidas, Bissau.
- Instituto Nacional de Estatística. 2009. População por região, sector e localidades por sexo: Censo de 2009. Bissau.
- Instituto Nacional de Estatística. 2013. Projections Demographiques en Guinea-Bissau 2009 -2030. Bissau.
- IUCN. 2016. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2016-2. Available from http://www.iucnredlist.org/ (accessed September 19, 2016).
- Jallow M, Barlow CR, Sanyang L, Dibba L, Kendall C, Bechard M, Bildstein KL. 2016. High population density of the Critically Endangered hooded Vulture Necrosyrtes monachus in Western Region, The Gambia, confirmed by road surveys in 2013 and 2015. Malimbus **38**:23–28.
- Kane A, Jackson AL, Ogada DL, Monadjem A, Mcnally L. 2014. Vultures acquire information on carcass location from scavenging eagles. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 281:20141072.
- Kendall CJ. 2013. Alternative strategies in avian scavengers: How subordinate species foil the despotic distribution. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology **67**:383–393.
- Kendall CJ, Virani MZ. 2012. Assessing Mortality of African Vultures Using Wing Tags and Gsm-Gps Transmitters. Journal of Raptor Research **46**:135–140.
- Keys GJ, Johnson RE, Virani MZ, Ogada DL. 2012. Results of a pilot survey of raptors in Dzanga-Sangha Special Reserve, Central African Republic. Gabar **24**:64–82.
- Koenig R. 2006. Vulture Research Soars as the Scavengers ' Numbers Decline. SCIENCE **312**:1591–1592.
- Kumar N, Mohan D, Jhala Y V., Qureshi Q, Sergio F. 2014. Density, laying date, breeding success and diet of Black Kites Milvus migrans govinda in the city of Delhi (India). Bird Study **61**:1–8.

- Lerner HRL, Mindell DP. 2005. Phylogeny of eagles, Old World vultures, and other Accipitridae based on nuclear and mitochondrial DNA. Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution **37**:327–346.
- Long A. 2015. Africa's vultures are sliding towards extinction warns BirdLife. Available from http://www.birdlife.org/worldwide/news/afr ica%E2%80%99s-vultures-are-slidingtowards-extinction-warns-birdlife (accessed September 8, 2016).
- Lopes D. 2015. O Papagaio-Cinzento-de-Timneh, Psittacus timneh no arquipélago dos Bijagós: Contribuições para o estudo do estatuto, ecologia e conservação de uma espécie ameaçada. Faculty of Sciences of the University of Lisbon.
- Markandya A, Taylor T, Longo A, Murty MN, Murty S, Dhavala K. 2008. Counting the cost of vulture decline-An appraisal of the human health and other benefits of vultures in India. Ecological Economics **67**:194–204.
- Mendes L, Nunes M, Rocha PA. 1998. Recenseamento da Águia-pesqueira-africana Haliaetus vocifer, Abutre-das-palmeiras Gypohierax angolensis e Águia-pesqueiraeuropeia Pandion haliaeetus no Parque Nacional de Orango, República da Guiné-Bissau. Bissau.
- Ministério de Desenvolvimento Rural e Agricultura RN e A. (n.d.). Estratégia e Plano de Accão Nacional para a Biodiversidade. Ministério de Desenvolvimento Rural e Agricultura, Recursos Naturais e Ambiente, Bissau.
- Moleón M, Sánchez-Zapata JA, Sebastián-González E, Owen-Smith N. 2015. Carcass size shapes the structure and functioning of an African scavenging assemblage. Oikos **124**:1391–1403.
- Monadjem A, Garcelon DK. 2005. Nesting distribution of vultures in relation to land use in Swaziland. Biodiversity and Conservation 14:2079–2093.
- Morelli F, Kubicka AM, Tryjanowski P, Nelson E. 2015. The Vulture in the Sky and the Hominin on the Land: Three Million Years of Human–Vulture Interaction. Anthrozoos 28:449–468.

- Mundy PJ. 1992. Palm-nut Vulture. Pages 220– 233in P. J. Mundy, D. Butchart, J. Ledger, and S. Piper, editors.The Vultures of AfricaFirst. Acorn Books.
- Mundy PJ, Butchart D, Ledger J, Piper S. 2001. On The Vultures Of Africa. Pages 110– 115Wings over Africa: proceedings of the International Seminar on Bird Migration: Research, Conservation, Education and Flight Safety. Israel, April 29-May 11, 2001. International Center for the Study of Bird Migration, Israel.
- Murn C, Botha A. 2016. Assessing the accuracy of plotless density estimators using census counts to refine population estimates of the vultures of Kruger National Park Assessing the accuracy of plotless density estimators using census counts to refine population estimates of th. Ostrich:1–6.
- Murn C, Holloway GJ. 2014. Breeding biology of the White-headed Vulture Trigonoceps occipitalis in Kruger National Park, South Africa. Ostrich **85**:125–130.
- Murn C, Mundy P, Virani MZ, Borello WD, Holloway GJ, Thiollay JM. 2016. Using Africa's protected area network to estimate the global population of a threatened and declining species: A case study of the Critically Endangered White-headed Vulture Trigonoceps occipitalis. Ecology and Evolution **6**:1092–1103.
- O'Neal Campbell M. 2016. Vultures: Their evolution, Ecology and Conservation. Page (O'Neal Campbell M, editor)First. CRC Press - Taylor & Francis Group, New York.
- Odino M, Imboma T, Ogada DL. 2014a. Assessment of the occurrence and threats to hooded Vultures Necrosyrtes monachus in western Kenyan towns. Vulture News 67:3– 20.
- Odino M, Imboma T, Ogada DL. 2014b. Assessment of the occurrence and threats to hooded Vultures Necrosyrtes monachus in western Kenyan towns. Vulture News **67**:3– 20.
- Ogada D. 2012. Pan-Africa Vulture Summit Proceedings 2012:1–47. Available from papers://a25d78e7-d6e0-4b2b-9b83-8d9ae6ec0592/Paper/p707.

- Ogada D et al. 2015a. Another Continental Vulture Crisis: Africa's Vultures Collapsing toward Extinction. Conservation Letters **9**:89–97.
- Ogada D, Botha A, Shaw P. 2015b. Short Communication Ivory poachers and poison: drivers of Africa's declining vulture populations. Oryx:1–4.
- Ogada D, Odino M, Wairasho P, Mugambi B. 2016. Raptor Survey of northern Kenya 2-16 May 2016 Raptor Road Survey of northern Kenya 2 – 15 May 2016.
- Ogada D, Peregrine T, Columbia B, The V, Fund P. 2015c. Supp Mat African vulture declines Ogada et al.
- Ogada DL. 2014a. The power of poison: Pesticide poisoning of Africa's wildlife. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences **1322**:1–20.
- Ogada DL. 2014b. The Poisoning of Africa's Vultures. The New York Times:1–4.
- Ogada DL, Buij R. 2011. Large declines of the hooded Vulture Necrosyrtes monachus across its African range. Ostrich **82**:101– 113.
- Ogada DL, Keesing F. 2010. Decline of Raptors over a Three-Year Period in Laikipia, Central Kenya. Journal of Raptor Research 44:129–135.
- Ogada DL, Keesing F, Virani MZ. 2012a. Dropping dead: causes and consequences of vulture population declines worldwide. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences **1249**:57–71.
- Ogada DL, Thomsett S, Virani MZ, Kendall CJ, Odino M. 2013. 2010 Raptor road counts in Kenya: with emphasis on vultures.
- Ogada DL, Torchin ME, Kinnaird MF, Ezenwa VO. 2012b. Effects of Vulture Declines on Facultative Scavengers and Potential Implications for Mammalian Disease Transmission. Conservation Biology **26**:453–460.
- Pain DJ et al. 2008. The race to prevent the extinction of south Asian vultures. Bird Conservation International **18**:S30–S48.
- Parmenter RR, Macmahon JA. 2009. Carrion decomposition and nutrient cycling in a

semiarid shrub-steppe ecosystem. Ecological Monographs **79**:637–661.

- Pomeroy D, Shaw P, Opige M, Kaphu G, Ogada DL, Virani MZ. 2014. Vulture populations in Uganda: using road survey data to measure both densities and encounter rates within protected and unprotected areas. Bird Conservation International:1–16.
- Pomeroy DE. 1975. Birds As Scavengers of Refuse in Uganda. Ibis **117**:69–81.
- Prakash V, Pain DJ, Cunningham AA, Donald PF, Prakash N, Verma A, Gargi R, Sivakumar S, Rahmani AR. 2003. Catastrophic collapse of indian white-backed Gyps bengalensis and long-billed Gyps indicus vulture populations. Biological Conservation **109**:381–390.
- Richards N, Ogada DL. 2015. Veterinary agents and poisons threaten avian scavengers in Africa and Europe. Royal Society of Chemistry.
- Roberts JST. 2013. Estimating the population p ion and distribution of hooded Vulture ulture (Necrosyrtes monachus) of the Accra Metropolitan Area: Final Project Report.
- Robinson TP, William Wint GR, Conchedda G, Van Boeckel TP, Ercoli V, Palamara E, Cinardi G, D'Aietti L, Hay SI, Gilbert M. 2014. Mapping the global distribution of livestock. PLoS ONE 9.
- Rondeau G, Condé MM, Ahon B, Diallo O, Pouakouyou D. 2008. Survey of the occurrence and relative abundance of raptors in Guinea subject to international trade. Page Joint Nature Conservation Committee Report. Peterborough.
- Rondeau G, Thiollay J-M. 2004. West African vulture decline. Vulture News **51**:13–33.
- Roxburgh L, McDougall R. 2012. Vulture poisoning incidents and the status of vultures in Zambia and Malawi. Vulture News **62**:33–39.
- Ruxton GD, Houston DC. 2004. Obligate vertebrate scavengers must be large soaring fliers. Journal of Theoretical Biology 228:431–436.
- Scheider J, Wink M, Stubbe M, Hille S, Wiltschko W. 2004. Phylogeographic Relationships of

the Black Kite Milvus migrans. Pages 467– 472in R. D. Chancellor and B.-U. Meyburg, editors.Raptors Worldwide. WWGBP/MME.

- Seibold I, Helbig AJ. 1995. Evolutionary history of New and Old World vultures inferred from nucleotide sequences of the mitochondrial cytochrome b gene. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences **350**:163–178.
- Sekercioğlu CH, Daily GC, Ehrlich PR. 2004. Ecosystem consequences of bird declines. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **101**:18042–18047.
- Ssemmanda R. 2005. An apparent increase in hooded Vulture Necrosyrtes monachus numbers in Kampala, Uganda. Vulture News 53:10–14.
- Taggart MA, Senacha KR, Green RE, Jhala Y V., Raghavan B, Rahmani AR, Cuthbert R, Pain DJ, Meharg AA. 2007. Diclofenac residues in carcasses of domestic ungulates available to vultures in India. Environment International **33**:759–765.
- The Peregrine Fund. 2012. Milvus parasitus: Aditional details on Food and Feeding. Available from http://globalraptors.org/grin/SpeciesExtende d.asp?specID=8367&catID=2005 (accessed September 22, 2016).
- Thiel R. 1977. Activity Patterns and Food Habits of Southeastern Wisconsin Turkey Vultures.
- Thiollay JM. 2006a. Large bird declines with increasing human pressure in savanna woodlands (Burkina Faso). Biodiversity and Conservation **15**:2085–2108.
- Thiollay JM. 2006b. The decline of raptors in West Africa: Long-term assessment and the role of protected areas. Ibis **148**:240–254.
- Thiollay J-M. 2001. Long-Term Changes of Raptor Populations in Northern Cameroon. The Journal of Raptor Research **35**:173–186.
- Thiollay J-M. 2006c. Severe decline of large birds in the Northern Sahel of West Africa: a longterm assessment. Bird Conservation International **16**:353.

- Thiollay J-M. 2007a. Raptor declines in West Africa: comparisons between protected, buffer and cultivated areas. Oryx **41**:322– 329.
- Thiollay J-M. 2007b. Raptor population decline in West Africa. Ostrich **78**:405–413.
- Turnbull PCB, Diekmann M, Kilian JW, Versfeld W, De Vos V, Arntzen L, Wolter K, Bartels P, Kotze a. 2008. Naturally acquired antibodies to Bacillus anthracis protective antigen in vultures of southern Africa. The Onderstepoort journal of veterinary research 75:95–102.
- Uezu A, Metzger JP, Vielliard JME. 2005. Effects of structural and functional connectivity and patch size on the abundance of seven Atlantic Forest bird species. Biological Conservation **123**:507–519.
- UNECA. 2012. Emerging Issues in West Africa: Developments In Regional Integration in 2012. Niamey. Available from http://www.uneca.org/publications/emergin g-issues-west-africa.
- United Nations Statistic Division. 2016. Country profile - Guinea-Bissau. Available from http://data.un.org/CountryProfile.aspx?crNa me=guinea-bissau (accessed September 12, 2016).
- Van Wyk E, Bouwman H, Van Der Bank H, Verdoorn GH, Hofmann D. 2001. Persistent organochlorine pesticides detected in blood and tissue samples of vultures from different localities in South Africa. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology - C Toxicology and Pharmacology **129**:243– 264.
- Virani MZ. 2016. Africa 's Vultures entrapped in a Game of Poisons. SWARA:73–78.
- Virani MZ, Kendall C, Njoroge P, Thomsett S. 2011. Major declines in the abundance of vultures and other scavenging raptors in and around the Masai Mara ecosystem, Kenya. Biological Conservation 144:746–752.
- Wacher T, Newby J, Houdou I, Harouna A, Rabeil T. 2013. Vulture observations in the Sahelian zones of Chad and Niger **20**.
- Whytock RC, Buij R, Virani MZ, Morgan BJ. 2014. Do large birds experience previously undetected levels of hunting pressure in the

forests of Central and West Africa? Oryx **50**:1–8.

Whytock RC, Morgan BJ. 2010. The commercial trade in bushmeat potentially threatens raptor populations in the Ebo forest,

Cameroon. Gabar **21**:1–7.

Williams VL, Cunningham AB, Kemp AC, Bruyns RK. 2014. Risks to birds traded for African traditional medicine: A quantitative assessment. PLoS ONE **9**.

Supplementary materials

Section I: Abundance indexes per administrative division

Table 1. Abundance indexes for the study species in each administrative division (Regions and Sectors) of Guinea-Bissau. ND - No data, for Sectors that were not sampled. Encounter rates are calculated at the Sector level and measured in birds per km, while PAI (Punctual abundance index) are calculated at the Region level and measured as birds per point-count.

		Effo	ort	hoo vult	ded ures	Grif	fons	Yellow-billed kites		Pied crows	
Region	Sector	Transect size (km)	Numb. Point counts	Enc. rates	PAI	Enc. rates	PAI	Enc. rates	PAI	Enc. rates	PAI
	Bafatá	45.3		6.73		0		0.77		0.57	
	Bambadinca	63.7		5.42		0		0.39		0.61	
	Contuboel	ND		ND		ND		ND		ND	
Bafatá	Galomaro	96.1	18	1.56	11.78	0.24	0.28	0.09	6.17	0.05	1.44
	Gã-Mamudo	37.4		0.40		0		0.03		0	
	Vitolo	71.2		1.04		0		0.03		0	
	Prabis	21.1		2.80		0.09		0.03		0.81	
Biombo	Quinhamel	44.2	11	6.73	10.09	0.05	0.36	0.99	1.91	0.01	1 45
Diomoo	Safim	29.0		3.55	10.07	0	0.00	0.14		0.10	1110
Bissau	Bissau	13.9	4	27.19	65.75	0.14	0	0.22	0.50	3.09	31.25
D 1 /	Bolama	ND		ND		ND		ND		ND	
Bolama/ Bijagós	Bubaque	ND	22	ND	2.14	ND	0	ND	0.55	ND	0.82
Dijagos	Caravela	ND		ND		ND		ND		ND	
E B Cacheu	Bigene	52.5		2.61		0.11		0.36		0.06	
	Bula	54.1	27	2.38		0	1.74	0.41		0.15	
	Cacheu	47.3		4.65	20.22	0.02		0.30	0.70	0.02	0.07
cuencu	Caió	12.0		6.00		0		0.17	0170	0	
	Canchungo	65.7		10.56		0.37		0.20		0.06	
	São Domingos	67.2		2.19		0.52		0.16		0.13	
	Boe	139.7		0.01		0		0		0	
Cabé	Gabu Diaha	93.4	15	5.56	2 02	0.03	0.00	0.18	0.11	0.32	0.31
Gabu	Picite	99.0 70.2	43	1.02	5.82	0.09	0.09	0.15	0.11	0.00	
	Sonaco	70.2 36.7		2.10		0.30		0.00		0.40	
	Bissorã	19.7		2.10		0.35		0.27		0	
	Farim	ND		ND		ND		ND		ND	
Oio	Mansaba	66.0	24	0.74	5.21	0	0.04	0.14	1.25	0.06	0
	Mansoa	61.3		0.38		0		0.20		0.03	
	Nhacra	53.1		1.21		0		0.06		0.11	
	Buba	49.3		0.10		0		0		0	
Oninana	Empada	40.1	10	0.37	0.42	0	0.08	0.02	0.50	0	0
Quinara	Fulacunda	31.7	12	0.32	0.42	0	0.08	0	0.50	0	0
	Tite	14.4		0.42		0		0.07		0	
	Bedanda	40.3		0.30		0		0		0.05	0.29
Tomb-1	Cacine	37.4	21	1.04	271	0	0.14	0	0.72	0	
rombali	Catió	25.9	21	2.74	3./1	0.04	0.14	0	0.02	0	
	Quebo	112.3		0.60		0		0.03		0.25	



Section II: Abundance maps for the white-backed vulture Gyps africanus

Longitude

Figure 1. Abundance of white-backed vulture Gyps africanus in sampled Sectors of Guinea-Bissau obtained from road survey transects. Grey areas represent Sectors that were not sampled.



Figure 2. Abundance of white-backed vultures Gyps africanus in all Regions of Guinea-Bissau calculated from point-count surveys.

Section III: Maps of predictor variables



Figure 3. Map of the distribution of mean annual NDVI in each Sector of Guinea-Bissau



Figure 4. Map of the distribution of mean annual temperature in each Sector of Guinea-Bissau



Figure 5. Map of the distribution of the annual temperature range in each Sector of Guinea-Bissau



Figure 6. Map of the distribution of average annual precipitation in each Sector of Guinea-Bissau



Figure 7. Map of the distribution of the cattle density (heads per km²) in each Sector of Guinea-Bissau



Figure 8. Map of the distribution of the absolute human population (people per Sector) in each Sector of Guinea-Bissau



Figure 9. Map of the distribution of human population density (people per km²) in each Sector of Guinea-Bissau

Section IV: Distribution over habitats

Table 2: Frequencies (in %) of the number of birds of each species associated with each of the habitat classes recorded during transect surveys. NI – Non identified habitat. NA – Not applicable. The N row is the number of birds counted per species in each method.

Habitats	Hooded vultures Necrosyrtes monachus	Griffons Gyps spp.	Yellow-billed kites Milvus migrans parasitus	Pied crows Corvus albus
Bolanhas	3.4	0.6	8.0	0.7
Cultivations	0.1	0	0	0
Forests	2.6	2.5	2.9	0.7
Human Settlements	62.9	30.2	36.7	76.8
Lalas	0.8	3.1	12.0	1.4
Mixed	1.0	0.6	1.8	0
Orchards	7.6	11.3	10.6	2.4
Savannah	2.4	30.8	8.7	1.0
Wetlands	1.7	2.5	6.2	0.7
NI	17.6	18.2	13.1	16.5
n	4360	159	275	297

Section IV: Abundance of palm-nut vultures

Table 3. Mean number of individuals observed $(\pm SD)$ in counts of palm-nut vultures carried out in the JVPMNP during dry and rainy seasons.

Island	Season	Effort (Number of counts)	Mean number of adults (±SD)	Mean number of Immatures (±SD)	Total (±SD)
Cavalos	Dry	2	26±8.5	9±1.4	35±9.9
Cavalos	Rainy	1	43	10	53
João Vieira	Dry	1	112	39	151
João Vieira	Rainy	2	85.5±17.7	36.5±2.1	125±24
Meio	Dry	1	58	7	65
Meio	Rainy	1	55	15	70
Poilão	Dry	1	9	5	14
Poilão	Rainy	6	34.3±9.9	17.7±12.1	57.3±14.9